Bachelor Thesis: What is dead may never die – How the Stability and Growth Pact was remade during the Euro crisis

> Lukas Spielberger s1487493

University of Twente Faculty Behavioural and Management Sciences BSc European Public Administration

> First Supervisor: Shawn Donnelly Second Supervisor: Ramses Wessel

Abstract

Between 2010 and 2012, EU countries agreed on a significant deepening of the Stability and Growth Pact which restricts the authority over their national budgets and macro-economic policy. The new rules are widely controversial and their effectiveness is both publicly and academically disputed. How, then, can it be explained that so far-reaching reforms have been passed so quickly during the crisis? This study aims to explain how coalitions between countries formed in that period and how this effected the outcomes that were reached. During the crisis, ordo- and neo-liberal economic ideas were used to attack the previous institutional arrangement and to provide a comprehensive solution to the problems they identified. Those ideas united both affluent Northern European countries and Eastern European countries that had undergone internal devaluation voluntarily. Southern European countries were unable to formulate a broadly accepted alternative at the onset of the crisis and had to adopt the German paradigm. As soon as that changed in 2012, SGP reform progress stalled, even though institutional deficiencies persist.

Table of contents

'

Introduction	2
Background	3
The Stability and Growth Pact	3
The SGP before the crisis	3
Theory	5
Approaches to Coalition Building	5
Expectations	8
The reform of the Stability and Growth Pact	10
Setting the stage: November 2009 - November 2010	10
Gaining momentum: December 2010 - June 2011	16
Tightening the noose: September 2011- March 2012	20
Consolidating the gains: May – December 2012	26
Discussion	31
Germany and France	31
Rich states	32
Crisis states	33
Central and Eastern Europe	34
Theoretical Implications	35
Conclusion	36
References	39

Introduction

Ever since the onset of the economic crisis in 2009, increased attention has been paid to the financial situation of European Union (EU) countries. With the danger of several states defaulting on their debt, the Stability and Growth Pact (SGP) has taken a more central role than in the years before the crisis. The SGP, originally advocated by the Germans as early as 1997, has been one of the most central elements of the Economic and Monetary Union (EMU). Its initial purpose is to safeguard sound budgetary policies and to trigger the Excessive Deficit Procedure (EDP) in case of violation. To that goal, the original SGP included a set of rules designed to secure low budget deficits across the EMU (Heipertz & Verdun, 2010). While in prosperous times, this regime was generally abode by and compliant countries kept their budget deficits low, when the crisis came, the rigidities of the SGP became obvious and in the year of 2009 a EDP was started against as many as 13 countries at once and at the time of writing, 8 Euro countries are still in the EDP.

In response to this failure of the SGP to prevent the most serious economic crisis of the EU, it would have been thinkable to abandon that arrangement. Arguably, more systemic solutions with structural transfers and common European bonds could have prevented the years of stagnation that followed (Matthijs & McNamara, 2015). What happened instead was that the rules of the SGP were increasingly tightened between 2010 and 2012, both through EU legislation and Intergovernmental Treaties outside its framework. In doing so, all countries surrendered a great degree of autonomy over their budgets to the EU and the austerity measures that had to be implemented following the prescriptions of the new SGP has sparked protests in many countries. Absent the return of either stability or growth immediately after the reforms, the economic rationale of the new set of measures is now being called into question (Blyth, 2013b; Matthijs, 2016a), but at the time those measures were decided upon, they all found unanimous approval. After 2012, the reform of the SGP abruptly ground to a halt even though further progress was –and still is– considered necessary. The goal of this study is to explain how this outcome can be explained. This is done by analysing the coalitions that have formed between countries during the reform of the SGP.

This article proceeds as follows. First, an overview over the SGP before the crisis will be provided to illustrate the already existent institutional framework before the crisis. This draws not only on the policies of the SGP, but also points out key players' behaviour prior to the crisis. Then, two theoretical approaches to coalition formation will be laid out, an interest-based approach and one that sees ideas as the driving force. Using these two approaches the reform of the SGP between 2010 and 2012 is described using process tracing methods in the empirical section. By studying the positions that countries took and the mode of cooperation between them it is shown how closer budget surveillance aimed at enforcing austerity won the day over systemic solutions or stimulus

programmes. The penultimate section discusses the findings and provides an explanation for the way in which the SGP reform has taken place. The implications of those insights for the study economic governance and institution building in the EU form the concluding section.

Background

The Stability and Growth Pact

The SGP is a body of legislation consisting two regulations that have been passed in 1997 and amended in 2005 whose aim it is to ensure adherence to the convergence criteria laid out in the Maastricht Treaty. In addition, some non-legally binding texts, a resolution of the European Council, a report of the ECOFIN Council to the European Council and a code of conduct have been passed which carry political and procedural meaning. It formalises the obligation to keep general government budget deficits below 3% of Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and to strive for a balanced or surplus budget in the medium term (Heipertz & Verdun, 2010, pp. 3–5).

Functionally, the SGP comprises a preventive arm which obliges countries to submit annual stability programmes and a corrective one which specifies the application of the EDP in case of violation of the deficit targets. Under the preventive arm, countries are now obliged to submit country-specific medium-term objectives (MTOs) which take into account national economic data such as debt-to-GDP ratio, growth potential and automatic stabilisers. Should a country be unable to reach its MTO, a path of adjustment which takes into account the business circle and the structural deficit is expected to be followed. Finally, structural reforms, such as pension system overhauls, may allow countries to deviate from their MTOs if the reforms promise future savings. The corrective arm of the SGP refers to the application and implementation of the EDP. Even if a deficit exceeds the 3% benchmark, this can be justified in 'temporary and exceptional circumstances'. The Council enjoys considerable leeway in (not) applying the EDP by invoking a long list of 'other relevant factors' that might justify a temporary deviation from the deficit target (Heipertz & Verdun, 2010, pp. 101, 168). Failure to bring the budget deficit below the 3% threshold within a specified period or to act upon Council recommendations on how to do that is sanctioned by a non-interest bearing deposit at the European Commission of 0.2% of GDP plus components depending on the transgression as *ultima ratio*.

The SGP before the crisis

At the time that the SGP was proposed, European monetary integration was in its final phase and countries that wanted to join the common currency had to fulfil the convergence criteria of a budget deficit of 3% of GDP and gross national debt of 60% of GDP. A proposal by the then German finance minister Theo Waigel for a Stability pact that clarified the budgetary rules that ensured compliance with the criteria was discussed. While the French had their reservations about the pact and demanded pro-growth and employment policies in return, most other countries did not object against it and the SGP was created (Heipertz & Verdun, 2010, p. 36). Against Germany's wish to include an automatic sanction system which would only be suspended in the case of a severe economic downturn, the eventual pact resulted in little more than a formalisation of political promises made before that (Segers & Van Esch, 2007).

That weakness became clear in the year 2003 when both Germany and France ran budget deficits that exceeded the 3% mark and the EU found itself incapable of reacting despite pressure from many small countries. After all, the SGP should apply to all EU countries equally (Heipertz & Verdun, 2010, p. 141). However, the French and German resistance sufficed to block the qualified majority which would be required to trigger the sanctions under the EDP. This led to clashes both within the Council and between the Council and the Commission which were eventually settled before the ECJ. While affirming the Council's practice of holding the SGP in abeyance, the Court also emphasised the importance of cooperation between both institutions.

Learning from the problems encountered in 2003, the Commission drafted a proposal for a revision of the SGP. Pushed forward by the Franco-German tandem and against the opposition of Finland, the Netherlands and Austria, the new SGP was somewhat more lenient and abandoned any former calls for automatic application of sanctions. Instead of the previous one-size-fits-all approach, it now accounted for country-specific economic differences. It went on to stipulate that the rate of adjustment of structural deficits not exceed 0.5% per year, and allowed for violation of the medium term objectives when structural reforms were applied that promised long-term savings (Heipertz & Verdun, 2010, p. 168). This increased the discretion of the SGP.

Thanks to uniformly strong economic growth in the following years, the revised SGP remained largely untested prior to the economic crisis of 2008. Yet when the financial crash happened, the economic outlook changed radically. Despite the extraordinary circumstances the European Council insisted on the application of the SGP and EDP's were started against all but 3 countries in 2009 (Matthijs, 2016a). Considering the difficulties the SGP encountered in much more benign economic times when it was revised, the fact that it was not suspended during the crisis

certainly proved that it has become an accepted part of European economic policy whose core task was not even questioned in a period of a severe economic downturn. Still, in immediate response to the crisis, many states, including both France and Germany, launched stimulus programmes to revive the economy, rather than to try and stay within the 3% deficit margin (Dullien & Guérot, 2012; Vail, 2015).

All in all, it can be seen that after an initial German efforts to achieve automatic sanctioning of excessive deficits across all countries, practice has shown that the decision to start an EDP depended more on political than on formal criteria. The process to scrutinise national budgets has been made more flexible and adaptive to individual circumstances. In terms of coalitions, the importance of cooperation between France and Germany cannot be understated. The French were leading the block that called upon Germany to abandon its calls for automatic sanctioning and instead to politicise the decision making process on the application of the EDP, but supportive of the idea of macro-economic coordination in general. Smaller northern states have been among the most vocal in pushing for stricter application of the rules, especially when Germany itself violated the SGP in 2003.

The initial European reaction to the economic crisis in 2008 was somewhat ambivalent. On the one hand, almost all countries had deficits that formally exceeded the 3% value and some even deliberately launched stimuli to keep their economy afloat, showing little respect for the SGP in practice. On the other hand, their insistence on the commitment to keep the SGP formally intact revealed that the principal logic of the SGP, namely to coordinate fiscal policies and keep deficits at bay was not questioned.

Theory

Approaches to coalition building

Coalitions of states in EU decision making are groups of countries that share interests and objectives and cooperate politically in order to achieve them. Within this context, rationalist and idea-based approaches to coalition building will be compared regarding their power to explain the agreements on Eurozone governance reached during the Eurocrisis.

Rationalist theories assume that states are political actors that behave according to their interests within the framework of EU institutions. Hence states should be expected to form coalitions on the base of their interests and outcomes should be shaped according to the preferences of the states whose relative power results from interdependence between the states and the role of

institutions in preserving the credibility of those commitments (Heipertz & Verdun, 2010; Moravcsik, 1993, 2013). Within rationalist thought, again, two different coalition building patterns can be distinguished, namely an institutionalist and a power-based one (Kaeding & Selck, 2005). Traditional liberal institutionalism in this context defines interest rather narrowly as economic payoffs and would expect countries with joint economic interests to form coalition in intergovernmental negotiations (Moravcsik, 2013). This means that states cooperate in order to achieve mutual benefits in a collectively unsatisfactory situation. Factors that determine a state's position are highly contingent on the domestic situation, since the government that acts on the international stage is accountable to its domestic voters (Katzenstein, 1977), a situation that Robert Putnam (1988) described as a 'two-level game'. Given the differences between individual states' political economies, supra-national policies affect countries unevenly and be more or less painful to domestic constituents (Walter, 2015). As a result of imbalances of power and the asymmetric distributions of benefits and the resulting interdependence between states, those states that benefit most from the integration have to make most concessions while the countries that gain the least have considerably more clout. For coalition building, one could therefore expect that countries with similar interests would form coalitions in order to increase their influence on the agreements that are negotiated and effectuate at least concessions or 'package deals' (Heipertz & Verdun, 2010). The most consistent coalition pattern that has been observed using such a framework is the North-South divide (Kaeding & Selck, 2005) which has also been coined the creditor-debtor divide to account for the different fiscal situations countries found themselves in (Dyson, 2010; Zimmer, Schneider, & Dobbins, 2005).

To some, this consensus-directed approach does not go far enough and a number of scholars have argued that power, rather than interest is the determinant of the outcomes of those negotiations. In this case, the outcomes of negotiations might not stop at what is a mutual improvement, as countries that have the power to impose their will onto others will seize that opportunity (Art, 2015; Donnelly, 2013). Institutions might be shaped in way that leaving them is made more painful once a country is in there so that membership is the only option remaining (Keohane, 1984; Krasner, 1999; Walter, 2015). Stronger states might therefore be more than only powerful players and could be perceived as concrete threats by other countries whose interests they harm. Consequently, coalitions that are formed will do so with regards to the balance of powers and in reaction to those threats. Confronted with the two options of bandwagoning, i.e. aligning oneself with the hegemon, and balancing, countries will have to pick sides based explicitly on power (Heipertz & Verdun, 2010; Walt, 2000). This does not preclude the alignment of other interests, after all aligning oneself with the hegemon is less painful if both states strive for the same goals.

However, faced with the possibility of finding themselves in an institutional environment into which they have been coerced against their interests, states whose preferences do not match the hegemon's have higher stakes in the game and have to take considerations of containing threats into account as well. Most existing literature on EU economic policy making sees Germany and France as the two central players of this power game with the other states merely joining forces with one of them.

The idea-based or constructivist perspective holds that preferences and ideologies are more important than rationalist calculations. With uncertainty about outcomes being always present in politics, states have to rely on ideas to develop an understanding of the events happening and shape their preferences according to how they view the world (Blyth, 2002, 2003). As actors never have full knowledge about the consequences of a policy, ideas take a more central role in defining the behaviour of states in an international environment (Schmidt, 2008).

One common approach to look at coalition formation on the basis of ideas are advocacy coalitions. They are composed of actors from various governmental and private organizations who both share a set of normative and causal beliefs and engage in a non-trivial degree of co-ordinated activity over time (Sabatier, 1998). Sabatier (1998) goes on to sketch a tripartite belief system. Most centrally, the *deep core* belief system includes includes basic ontological and normative beliefs around which are inherent to all policy domains. Next come the *policy core* beliefs which represent a coalition's basic normative commitments and causal perceptions across an entire policy domain or subsystem. Finally the secondary aspects include more flexible instrumental beliefs for certain policy sub-fields. This approach has been used to explain the relatively stable coalitions that were present during the completion of the single market in financial regulation and served as a complement to interest-based approaches (Quaglia, 2010; Story & Walter, 1997). Such stable advocacy coalitions have been important in the creation process of the SGP (Heipertz & Verdun, 2010, Chapter 5). Hix (1999) found competition between EU countries to take place along the political left-right axis in the European Council on many different issues. A weakness of this approach is its assumption of a relatively stable environment in which different ideological camps with firm beliefs compete for influence. However, if ideas were to be the prevalent driver of coalition building, it would be possible that countries join them out of dogmatism and against pragmatic political considerations (Mügge, 2011).

A more recent approach to coalition building around beliefs is an actor-centred constructivist approach. It tries to reconcile material interests of individual actors with the need to form coalitions to achieve substantial change (Saurugger, 2013). To this goal, actors use ideas deliberately and as a

means of strategy to reach certain objectives by embedding them in their discourses (Schmidt, 2008). While some have argued that only dominant actors have the privilege of using their ideas to shape the debates (Matthijs & McNamara, 2015; McNamara, 2006), others consider ideas as a versatile weapon which can be used by any actor to forward their cause (Jabko, 2006). Either way, demarcating the point at which ideas trump interest can prove difficult, because framing of debates may also be a tool to reach formulated material interests (Fourcade, Steiner, Streeck, & Woll, 2013). This approach acknowledges that there may exist an interaction between ideas and the interests of an actor. After all, ideas are lenses through which the world is seen and determine what responses an actor might favour (Blyth, 2003; Goldstein, 1993). The actor-centred constructivist approach sees coalition building as a result of this potential to provide clear answers in moments of uncertainty. Once the core beliefs have been formulated, the choice of viable coalition partners is constricted according to who shares them and is served by those ideas. Equipped with ideas, actors can challenge existing institutions in a moment of crisis by pointing out that the previous institutional arrangement has not worked and needs an overhaul (Blyth, 2002).

Expectations

The analytical frameworks presented above all provide different lenses through which coalition building during the Eurocrisis can be seen. For starters, the liberal intergovernmentalist approach would assume coalitions to form on the basis of shared economic interests. By looking at the current account balances of EU countries before the Eurocrisis broke out, the divide between the core and periphery states can be identified (Dyson, 2010; Kaeding & Selck, 2005). Germany, the Netherlands, Austria, Finland and Belgium all have an on average positive current account in the period from 2003-09. France and Italy had moderate deficits and Greece and Portugal found themselves at the bottom of the list. National debt and government accounts yield similar results (Talani, 2015) which suggests that the block of surplus states could cooperate based on common economic interests of providing monetary stability. At the same time, France and the Southern and Eastern European countries could be expected to form a coalition to protect their need to run deficits and to propose more supranational solutions, so to split the costs of adjustment. Overall, one could therefore expect a core-periphery divide. The extent to which French preferences diverge from the German ones is furthermore crucial to the acceptance of an eventual Franco-German compromise by the other countries. The farther apart the starting positions have been, the more multilateral support the final outcome is expected to receive (Schild, 2010; Webber, 1999).

The realist perspective would also include the possibility of powerful countries, most

importantly Germany, using the crisis to enshrine their national interests in the institutional framework. While in that case the coalition patterns can be rather similar to those of the intergovernmental approach – countries whose interests overlap with those of Germany align themselves, those who would be harmed by stricter limits try to form a balancing coalition – the reasons for that taking place differ to some extent. Unlike the intergovernmentalist approach however, countries with dissimilar starting points, like the highly indebted Greek and the relatively balanced French could see themselves working together in an effort to contain German dominance or surzzrender to German pressure and commit to rules that harm them (Matthijs, 2016b). The traditional role of France as a counterweight to Germany in the history of the SGP stems from the UK's early opt-out from monetary integration and the notoriously highly indebted Italy's failure to establish itself as an important player in EMU politics (Heipertz & Verdun, 2010). At the same time, particularly small states might have to go along with Germany for lack of better alternatives in order not to upset the hegemon (Art, 2015; Matthijs, 2016b). In line with the history of the SGP, the formation of one block of countries with similar interests as Germany should see the other states rallying around France which is supposed to counterbalance Germany and try to effectuate looser rules and soften the criteria of the SGP.

With regards to ideas as an advocacy coalition building resource, the influence of the German ordo-liberal economic paradigm has to be pointed out first. In the history of the SGP, the emphasis on governing by the rules and seeing the state as a crucial actor to provide an environment in which markets can function effectively (Dullien & Guérot, 2012). Taken together with the neo-liberal positions, which are particularly reflected in the structural reforms that are presented as a way out of the crisis, this has been the dominant school of thought in broad parts of the continent and has already before the crisis left a significant mark on the institutional governance of the EMU (Fitoussi & Saraceno, 2013; Hall, 2014; Howarth & Rommerskirchen, 2013; Matthijs & McNamara, 2015; Saraceno, 2008). Countries that have a similar tradition of 'sound money' paradigms and stability cultures are on the one hand Finland and the Netherlands, both of which already pursued similar monetary policies to Germany before the introduction of the Euro (Heipertz & Verdun, 2010) and on the other hand the Baltic and Eastern European states (Bohle & Greskovits, 2007).

On the other hand, countries in the European South have a longer tradition of Keynesian thought which is reflected both in their intellectual history and the structure of their political economies (Hall & Soskice, 2001; Hall, 1989, 2014). Unlike the ordo-liberal tradition, this line of thought puts a greater emphasis on political management of monetary policy and economic demand.

Broadly speaking, the proposed response to a crisis would be to compensate shortfalls in private demand with public stimulus or investment programmes in order to keep up employment and economic growth (Jabko, 2015). This would undermine the goal of price stability and fiscal restraint held dear by the ordo-liberals, but eventually the benefits are expected to outweigh the costs (McNamara, 2006; Van Esch, 2014). France has been the representative of those ideas in the build-up to the monetary union and is therefore expected to lead the coalition of Keynesian countries (Hall, 2014; Matthijs & McNamara, 2015). In the time before the Euro-crisis, France has stood out as opposing German rule-based governance and calling for a *gouvernement économique* of the Eurozone in which political considerations could override existing rules in moments of crisis (Vail, 2015).

From an actor-centred constructivist point of view, those two competing blocks might seem too rigid. Rather than looking at intellectual traditions, it should be looked at who presented more economic coordination as a panacea to solve the crisis and prevent it from re-occuring and criticised the existing set-up of the SGP. Furthermore, after a narrative for the problems of the crisis has been developed, it can be accepted by anybody who sees their political interest served by it. If such a battle over the discourse is decided, even traditional adherents to other belief systems might see themselves forced to adopt the new narrative (Blyth, 2002). Given how deeply ordo-liberal beliefs are anchored in both the institutional set-up of the EU and the strategy of the European Commission (Donnelly, 2005; Jabko, 2006; Verdun, 2015), it can be expected that the rationale that supported its construction will be attacked. Creditor countries on the other hand, which do not want to have to pay for their own excessive lending for fear of public backlash might want to formulate an economic narrative of the crisis which protrays the ideal-type SGP as the way to overcome the crisis. This narrative rules out mutualisation of debt and frames budget responsibility as key to overcoming the crisis. Paradoxically, debtor country governments which can use austerity as a simple indicator of reform efforts, might advocate it, too, if they subscribe to the narrative of excessive deficits and structural weaknesses as causes of the crisis (Blyth, 2013a; Jabko, 2013). An alternative framing of the crisis would be the only way by which countries, whose interests are affected negatively could prevent a further automatisation of sanctions.

The reform of the Stability and Growth Pact

Setting the stage: November 2009 - November 2010

In late 2009, the economic crisis that had hit Europe worsened and brought especially

Greece in severe balance-of-payments problems. It is at this juncture that the future of EU economic governance was discussed and the reform of the SGP began. The issue of national debt became salient after the revelation by Greek prime minister George Papandreou that the Greek budget data that was submitted to the Commission on October 2 2009 had been cooked. Unlike in previous cases, the European Council laid the blame for this mishap primarily on the Greek system and not the previous government. German Chancellor Angela Merkel condemned this quickly and made clear that Germany would be unwilling to provide any assistance to Greece to cope with the situation (Merkel & Papandreou, 2010). Instead, she asserted that it was the Greeks' own fault, because they had knowingly dodged the SGP rules, and that it was therefore also the responsibility of the Greek government to bring down the deficit. Papandreou for his part insisted at the time that he would be able to comply and make the necessary budget cuts to bring down the debt, accepting the blame for his predecessor's profligacy. Arguably, following the budget cuts the Greek situation deteriorating far enough to make a bail-out necessary (Jones, 2010), because the absence of automatic stabilisers reduced the Greek GDP, which in turn raised the debt/GDP ratio. However, according the interpretation provided by Mrs. Merkel and Mr Papandreou, a national austerity programme to comply with SGP rules again was the consequent response to excessive spending before the crisis. An additional argument provided at the time was that lower wages would restore Greek competitiveness and attract investment (Krugman, 2010).

Invoking the Greek example, Mrs. Merkel and French President Nicolas Sarkozy agreed that more coordination of budgets has to take place on the European level to prevent a country from systematically violating the rules and lying about its budget figures (Bundeskanzlerin, 2009). Together with French prime minister Fillon, Mrs. Merkel later made clear that a closer supervision of national economic data would be the means by which events like the Greek crisis could be prevented from happening again (Merkel & Fillon, 2010). Furthermore France and Germany argued that the scope of monitoring from debt and deficit data to include structural issues and competitiveness needed to be included, too ("Brussels tables plans for closer EU economic union," 2010). Sarkozy himself emphasised that 'there cannot be disagreements between France and Germany on subjects of this importance' ("Paris , Berlin struggle for unity ahead of EU meeting," 2010).

Even though many countries immediately subscribed to the Franco-German telling of the story of the Greek crisis, other interpretations of the underlying problem were presented, too. Pointing out the difficulty for countries to take on new debt to service existing commitments Luxembourg's prime minister Jean-Claude Juncker was the first decision maker to call for a

Eurobonds, which would have meant the mutualisation of some debt (Bundeskanzlerin, 2009). While the proposal was rejected upfront by the German government, first academic proposals for a Eurobonds were circulated shortly after by several think tanks (Delpha & von Weizäcker, 2010). Lauded as a plausible answer to the Euro's systemic problems especially in the US economics sphere, the basic idea underlying the creation of Eurobonds was to stabilise bond markets and provide the countries that were in financial problems a way to get credit cheaply. By the end of 2010, Juncker received support for his idea from Italian finance minster Tremonti, with whom he authored an op-ed in the Financial Times about the issue, as well as from the German Social democrats, the main opposition party (J.-C. Juncker & Tremonti, 2010). Despite this advocacy however, the proposal never stood a real chance of being implemented. Besides the Germans, Austria and Finland, the Netherlands, Sweden the UK and even France spoke out against the proposal ("Rückendeckung für Merkel: Frankreich lehnt Euro-Anleihen ab," 2010). Given that those countries viewed the Greek crisis as the consequence of excessive spending by states, rather than as the consequence of their own banks issuing debt too cheaply, they were quick to identify the common bond instrument as a bad deal for themselves (Fourcade et al., 2013). It would, they asserted, raise the interest rates for 'fiscally sound' countries while making it possible for overindebted countries to take out even more loans. With the interest rates for them thus held artificially low, the fiscal 'sinners' (Matthijs & McNamara, 2015), could keep borrowing beyond their means and did not have any incentive to reduce their debt while the rich countries would have to pick up the tab. This so-called moral hazard argument, was used by the richer countries to quell any substantial discussion on the proposal from the moment it was presented, even though it disregarded any responsibility on the part of the lender.

Instead, the official story of what needed to be done to bring back stability to the Eurozone was established when a task force of finance ministers under the lead of President of the European Council Herman van Rompuy presented its diagnosis in October 2010. The report comprised four recommendations pertaining to the future of the SGP: the need for greater fiscal discipline enforced through a more rigid SGP, extended macroeconomic surveillance, better coordination and stronger and more independent institutions. These measures should serve to make it impossible for a government to violate the SGP and thereby prevent a crisis like the Greek one from reoccurring.

A first step towards this goal was the creation of a European Semester, a procedure in which national governments had to submit their budget proposals within a harmonised revision framework and that those would be reviewed by the Commission so to improve the quality of financial reporting. This proposal also brought the issue of sanctions for insufficient reforms on the agenda as the Commission proposal included deposits for slow debt consolidation. Predictably, both the French and the German reactions to the Commission proposal were positive, as they both considered budget deficits as the source of economic problems. They only differed in the way in which they wanted to implement it with Germany calling for the creation of a Treaty provision and France being a bit more reluctant towards that ("Brussels tables plans for closer EU economic union," 2010). Immediate backing for the proposal came not only from other rich Eurozone countries such as the Netherlands (Merkel & Balkenende, 2010), but also from Eastern European countries that had observed the SGP provisions and insisted that the crisis was the result of Greece breaching the rules (Grybauskaitė, 2010). Resistance was put forward by Non-Eurozone members, which should also be monitored under the proposal, albeit less strictly than Euro-countries. Swedish Prime Minister Frederik Reinfeldt was one of the few European leaders who questioned the supervision of fiscally sound non-Eurozone countries under the framework (Willis, 2010), but this resistance would not hold long, as even the UK, after having secured its own cosmetic concession, supported the monitoring mechanism. The inclusion of non-Eurozone countries in the European Semester was one of the issues that had divided Germany and France, too. While France understood the strengthening of economic governance as a step towards deeper integration of the Eurozone, Germany demanded all EU countries participate in the new mechanism ("Britain wins opt-out from EU ' economic government," 2010). Following German pressure, the supervision of deficits had thereby grown from a practical Eurozone problem to a basic question of the course of EU policy.

At the time the European Semester was being negotiated, many different ideas as to how to sanction non-compliance with the budgetary rules were floated. The Commission's proposal suggested the withdrawal of EU funds for budget offenders. Even though sanctions in general were supported by the Franco-German tandem, that idea did not receive much support in the Council. Instead, a divide between the German preference for financial sanctions, for instance in the form of non-interest bearing deposits with the Commission and Sarkozy's idea of political sanctions through suspension of voting rights opened shortly ("Paris , Berlin struggle for unity ahead of EU meeting," 2010). After Germany, which did not have any substantive problem with suspension of voting rights per se agreed to do that only in exceptional cases, the idea was presented to the Council. There it drew heavy criticism from the countries that found themselves in difficulties at the time, as Ireland and Spain dismissed the idea immediately, faced with the realistic option of such a rule being used against them ("EU countries still divided over voting rights issue," 2010). By October 2010, the French resistance to financial sanctions all but vanished and it was agreed that they should become

part of the preventive arm of the SGP to punish deviation from the adjustment path (Merkel & Sarkozy, 2010).

Also the way in which those sanctions should be issued was contentious. Germany, together with some smaller countries like Romania, the Netherlands and Finland all supported a strict and more automatic issuing of sanctions for countries that violated the budgetary discipline rules set out in the SGP ("EU countries still divided over voting rights issue," 2010). Already in early 2010, only one year after Germany had stabilised its own economy through a deficit-financed stimulus programme (Farrell & Quiggin, 2012), Angela Merkel stressed that harder sanctions should be used to effectuate compliance with the rules of the SGP (Merkel & Balkenende, 2010). Also smaller countries that had joined the Euro more recently or were on their way to do so and which had gone through considerable adjustment for that, were outspoken in favour of a more rigorous application of the SGP rules. Even they, however, acknowledged the contribution of the stimulus programmes to the easing of the crisis (Kažimír, 2010). The reasons why countries advocated more automatic sanctions differed, however. For Germany, it was above all seen as a way of speeding up sanctioning and having universal performance standards for all countries (Merkel & Fillon, 2010). Smaller countries also saw it as a way to prevent bigger states from extracting exemptions, as had happened in 2003 and making sure that others had to go through the same adjustment as they had to. Especially the Eastern European countries had conducted comprehensive structural reforms and austerity programmes to comply with the Euro accession path (Kažimír, 2010).

Surprisingly, QMV in the Council emerged as a decision making mechanism to determine the issuing of sanctions. The protest this triggered from the Dutch and Scandinavian delegations was all too predictable, but the reason why the sanctioning had been softened was French reluctance to go along (Watts & Traynor, 2010). Faced with the choice of abandoning either automatic sanctions or Treaty revision, the German Chancellor dropped the former. Germany prioritised the institutionalisation of a stricter crisis management which involved hair cuts from private parties, too (Vail, 2015) and the suspension for voting rights in the case of serious violation of SGP rules. The issue of opening the Treaty drew heavy criticism from the countries where the adoption of the Lisbon Treaty a few years earlier did not go smoothly, like Ireland and the Czech Republic, but also from Germany's usual ally Austria, because they could not guarantee the success of these measures (Faymann, 2010; Sallon, 2010). Wary of surrendering authority and paying for the Euro, the UK stated its opposition to Treaty change soon, but was more supportive of exclusively Eurozone action in that regard (Watts & Traynor, 2010). The decision to open the Treaty again marked a major concession by President Sarkozy on the other hand, given that he still ruled out Treaty changes at the beginning of the year. One other idea that had been brought forward by German finance minister Schäuble and his French colleague Lagarde in July, namely to install sanctions only for Euro members in the form of a political agreement, had at the time not received much support ("Debate on sanctions deadlocked over treaty issue," 2010). Both representatives of smaller countries and EU commissioners expressed their disapproval of the way in which France and Germany were coordinating their positions ahead of the European Council in November 2010 without the other countries (Watt & Traynor, 2010).

Germany and France had formed the spearhead of economic integration and were both trying to find ways of guaranteeing the better coordination of economic policies together with a reduction of national debt through limiting spending and their major fault lines concerned the means by which those goals should be achieved. While Germany received support from other rich countries, such as the Netherlands and Finland for its position, it also found Eastern European countries aligned with its calls for more Europeanised control over spending and the enforcement of rules. Substantial opposition to the narrative of a crisis of spending and the necessity for rigid spending rules was only brought forward by some single countries, but never stood chance of forming a counterweight to France and Germany.

By the time the European Semester was agreed upon, not only Greece but also Ireland had to be rescued through one of the bailout funds and further contagion loomed for Italy and Portugal (Newman, 2015). Unlike Greece, Ireland had obeyed the rules all the way before the crisis and its high debt was a result of the bailout for its own banks after the collapse of a real-estate bubble. Ireland, hence suited much worse as a bogevman to justify stricter SGP rules and was consequently less frequently used as an example to criticise the existing rules. Greece provided an easier target for that. Because the previous governments had indeed lied to their European peers about their budgets and breached the previous SGP rules a closer coordination of national budgets seemed like the logical response. Providing the simple counterfactual story that the crisis would not have happened if Greece had limited its lending in line with SGP provisions, core countries attacked the existing arrangement as too lenient and presented the return to a more balanced budget as a way out of this predicament. But still, pragmatic solution approaches to the problem when it arose, such as European bonds might, with hindsight, have proven cheaper and more lasting than the haphazard bail-out agreed upon in 2010 (Jones, 2010). However, those approaches were impeded by the rhetorical adherence to the no-bailout rule the Germans had inserted in the Maastricht Treaty, which was only abandoned when it became clear that a Greek default would have harmed Northern European and French banks that held much of the debt (Matthijs, 2016b). Systemic solutions would also have meant significant visible costs for their tax-payers and would have been difficult to justify within the chosen frame. By forcing Greece and all other countries to subscribe to measures to share their economic data, the cause of the crisis was constructed as national misbehaviour rather than systemic shortcomings. Tellingly, in the cases of Ireland and, later, Spain, where the budget crises were much more the result of private sector over-indebtedness than the public sector's fault, the same frame was used and austerity was prescribed nonetheless (Blyth, 2013a).

Gaining momentum: December 2010 - June 2011

Once excessive deficits and the violation of the SGP rules were identified as the causes of the crisis and France and Germany had agreed on their mode of cooperation, time had come to bring back stability and competitiveness to the Eurozone and to adjust institutional integration to economic interdependency. The European Commission had already presented six proposals for a revamped SGP in September 2010, which should later be known as the 'Six-Pack', but Chancellor Merkel wanted to complement economic coordination with specific reform programmes.

At a Franco-German summit in Freiburg, Merkel and Sarkozy made clear how they wanted to prevent national governments from widening the economic gap between richer and poorer countries that had caused the crisis. While stopping short of a European solution for structural imbalances, as countries like Spain had suggested, they hinted at first steps towards closer coordination of national policies in areas such as taxation and labour. Not unlike in the case of deficits, this insistence on supervising national governments was described as a way of preventing populist policies that would harm the stability of the Eurozone ("France, Germany break taboo over fiscal union," 2010). The principal idea was to bring about convergence of competitiveness and a 'level playing field' between Euro-contries which Sarkozy stressed was a crucial complement to sound finance. Naturally, convergence in competitiveness was interpreted as primarily of an adjustment by the weaker countries that were in trouble to the level of the stronger ones, not as the French insisted by everybody. The Germans for their part were adamant that their successful competitiveness reforms should serve as an example for every country and inspire other countries to go through fiscal adjustment, too, ignoring the danger its own export surplus posed for the stability of the Eurozone. Convinced of the applicability of its own success model for all other EU states, Germany also insisted all countries adopt the new proposal on economic coordination, rather than only the 17 Euro countries, which France suggested (Estonia was let into the burning building in 2011 after comprehensive austerity measures) ("Secret committee paving way for euro reform," 2011).

The first proposal for a 'Competitiveness Pact', was presented by France and Germany to the European summit in Febuary 2011. This set of six structural reform guidelines went a long way towards conforming all EU countries to the German model and included for instance a raising of the retirement age or the elimination of inflation-indexed wage agreements (Phillips, 2011b). The only French element to be found in there was the provision to monitor those reforms in the European Council, rather than through the Commission (Charlemagne, 2011a). Given how big an intrusion into sensitive fields of national social policy this included, the proposal drew immediate criticism. Sweden, Finland, Portugal, Luxembourg, Austria, Belgium and Spain, rallied against the end of the indexation and the softening of social commitments ("Germany, France under attack for EU austerity plan," 2011; Willis, 2011). Slovakia and the Baltic countries opposed the raising of the retirement age, invoking the structural adjustment they had gone through already before the crisis (Rettman, 2011). Together with Malta and Cyprus, Ireland objected against the adjustment of tax bases (Charlemagne, 2011b). The final controversial idea circulated by Germany, with Swedish support, was the introduction of a debt-break, ideally enshrined in the constitution like the one Germany had passed in 2009, to prevent governments from ever running a deficit again. This idea had received support from Nicolas Sarkozy since 2010, when he had promised to implement the 'golden rule' still during his tenure. Some other countries had already adopted such a debt break earlier, while Spain had failed to reduce its debt despite having a golden rule since 2006 (Heinen, 2010), Estonia kept its national debt low with such a constitutional norm (Dyson, 2008). These new constraints were welcomed by the Baltic countries that saw them less as a transfer of sovereignty than as a means to prevent populist spending sprees instead of prudent saving, illustrated by the Greek example ("Lithuania joins EU's new economic pact barring economic populism," 2011). The fact that such a debt-break would make automatic stabilisers, as seen in 2009 impossible was noted by Italy, but did not suffice to discredit the proposal. Despite various national concerns, then, the general idea and the direction of the reforms of the Pact found broad acceptance. It was generally acknowledged that the gap in productivity and the existence of uncompetitive national policies were at the core of the European crisis and that the measures proposed would help tackle them. Open support for the proposals came from Poland and Denmark, but since both of them were no Euro-members it did not really strengthen the proposal and both those countries criticised the Franco-German tandem as a mode of policy making (Phillips, 2011c). In the same vein, Hungarian prime minister Viktor Orban pointed out that Eurozone countries should not determine the pace of integration for the entire EU, as he was reluctant to surrender more power ot Brussels (Reifermann & Schult, 2011).

Nonetheless, one month later at the meeting of Eurozone leaders, Germany got its way and

extracted commitments to a watered-down proposal in return for its financing of a bailout fund. It featured a bit more leeway for national governments to choose the reforms which it has to implement and dropped the demand for tax harmonisation against Irish resistance and constitutional codification of the balanced budget rule for a more general translation into national law (Council of the European Union, 2011). Officially the Pact, then finally baptised Euro-Plus Pact, had as its goal to bring back competitiveness and employment through a set of supply-side reforms, such as flexible labour markets and providing additional incentives to work and bringing down current account deficits as well as government spending. It was eventually adopted by not only the Euro countries, but also Denmark, Poland, Latvia, Lithuania, Romania and Bulgaria at the European Council of March 24/25.

The Euro-Plus Pact was negotiated under the so-called Open Method of Coordination and therefore a matter exclusively handled by the European Council. At the time it was being discussed, the finance ministers were charged with agreeing on a set of five Regulations and one Directive by the Commission, the so-called Six-Pack whose primary objective it was to strengthen and broaden the SGP. The set of proposals comprised a clarification and speeding up of the EDP, the prevention and correction of macroeconomic imbalances, better surveillance and harder and more automatic sanctions for Euro-area countries that violated the Pact.

Within the ongoing discussion on the crisis, the set of proposals had received wide general support for their potential to coordinate economic policies when they were presented. Not only did the states that weathered the crisis rather well support the proposals, also Greece and Ireland, the two countries that had already been bailed out at the time, welcomed the Six Pack. Greek Prime Minister Papandreou said that, had such a mechanism existed 6 years earlier, the Greek crisis could have been prevented because domestic failures could have been corrected ("Οικονο μ ία Ο Γιώργος Παπανδρέου στη Σύνοδο Κορυφής « Κυρώσεις πρέπει να υπάρχουν και για το τραπεζικό σύστη μ α σε περιπτώσεις φοροδιαφυγής »," 2010). Ireland's finance minister acknowledged that spillover effects of national budgets had not been taken into account and that this had to change (Noonan, 2011). Outright criticism towards the goal of reducing the national debt by 5% if it is beyond 60% of GDP came from Italy, with its traditionally high levels of national debt against low levels of private debt, and Spain. With regards to the substance of the structural reforms, however, these countries also agreed that the proposals would go into the right direction (Bonanni, 2011).

The agreed-upon Reverse-Qualified-Majority-Vote (RQMV) sanctions mechanism, according to which sanctions would be issued by the Commission unless a majority of the Council vetoed it did not go far enough for many countries. Germany, the Benelux countries, the Baltic

states and Slovakia had all advocated fully automatic sanctions in order to de-politicise the application of the SGP criteria (Phillips, 2011a). That decision was a compromise with the French who took 3 months to abandon their objections against any changes in the decision making mode that eventually yielded the RQMV (House of Lords, 2011). Also the UK was opposed to fully automatic sanctions (House of Commons, 2010).

Germany succeeded in keeping trade surpluses from the list of macroeconomic imbalances because its official position insisted that 'if export surpluses result from true competitiveness, you should not switch them off' (Merkel, 2011b). Chancellor Merkel furthermore made clear that convergence in the EU should not be oriented towards the weak but has to be directed towards the strong (Merkel, 2011a).

Given the introduction of the European Semester, and the worsening situation in Portugal, the Six Pack did not make it to the official ECOFIN agenda before February 2011 and after long and secretive backroom discussions, a general agreement was presented by the Council on March 15. The proposal was subsequently mired in negotiations between the Council and the Parliament, but eventually a deal was struck in September 2011.

What was agreed upon in this period of the Eurocrisis is that the coordination of economic policies had to go much further than before and that besides national budget imbalances, macroeconomic factors can pose a threat to the Euro-area, too. Interestingly, even though both the Six-Pack and the Euro-Plus Pact represented significant transfers of power in sensitive policy fields, such as worker protection, no country voiced overt opposition to any of them in principle. While richer countries could see their requirements for a bailout be followed, the countries in crisis thought that the reforms being passed were supposed to calm the bond markets and solve long-standing structural issues.

What stands out is the support for those reforms by the Central and Eastern European states that joined the Pact voluntarily. They had experienced severe downturns (even exacerbated through their own austerity (Blyth, 2013b; Grauwe & Ji, 2013)) and yet hailed the new rules that would force them to stay on that track, despite the fact their budget deficits already fulfilled the criteria. Given their low incomes and their current account deficits before the crisis, they would probably have benefited from EU-wide redistribution programmes. If it cannot have been for either material interests or external pressure that they welcomed the Pact, their support for it is best explained by them sincerely subscribing to neo-liberal beliefs and thinking that pro-business national reforms would bring an end to the crisis. Lithuanian president Grybauskaite spelled this out clearly when she motivated her choice to subscribe to the Euro-Plus Pact as a way to prevent 'populism' ("Lithuania joins EU's new economic pact barring economic populism," 2011).

The general prescription of neo-liberal structural reforms to emulate the German exportdriven economic model was barely contested at all, even though it was clear that it would make adjustment much more costly for Southern European countries with more social commitments than for those that had already enacted such reforms. Also the insistence that the poorer countries adjust to the richer ones rather than implement European solutions to tackle imbalances between countries bears a significant imprint of Germany's and its Northern European allies' economic interests. Those were the countries that would have suffered losses if they had had to limit their exports or fund a considerably bigger structural funds (Streeck, 2015). All those issues were skilfully kept out of the discussion behind the accepted veil of restoring competitiveness, emulating success stories and achieving sound budgets.

One striking difference between the two pieces of legislation is that while the French pushed fiercely together with Germany for the Euro-Plus Pact, in the negotiations on the Six-Pack they turned out to be more of an restrictive force that tried to avoid more technocratic decision making, which was in line with French domestic political tradition. Even so however, France fell short of posing a counterweight or even trying to form a coalition against the German-led bloc of countries in favour of more Europeanisation of economic policy.

The speed at which the reforms were passed was remarkable, especially in the case of the Euro-Plus Pact which took little more than a month to be finalised after its official presentation. Part of this can be explained through market pressures, which forced especially Portugal and Spain to bite their lips (Hopkin, 2015). The general approval for the kinds of reforms it included can be traced back to an acceptance of the general narrative of the crisis as a problem of excessive government spending and lacking competitiveness. Therefore the collective decision to support those reforms and, in the case of six countries, to 'opt-in' can at best partially be explained through functional pressures. The economic paradigm according to which cutting red tape and social spending were necessary to bring back economic growth – rather than, say, the direct creation of jobs and investments in innovative technologies, as the initial response in France had been (Vail, 2015) – was barely ever questioned.

Tightening the noose: September 2011- March 2012

After the Euro-Plus Pact, it did not take long before the next rounds of crisis meetings had to be summoned. After the bailout for Portugal in spring 2011, the summer saw Spain and Italy, two considerably bigger economies get under pressure on the bond markets. Both those countries had to pass controversial austerity packages in return for German support, which should eventually drive their governments out of office in autumn 2011. The existence of market pressures even after two bold steps towards extended budgetary scrutiny and structural reforms were made was interpreted as the need for further integration by all big actors. The third phase of the reform of the SGP started in August 2011 at a meeting of Chancellor Merkel and President Sarkozy, in which they drafted new ideas for future economic integration.

Notwithstanding the new SGP provisions and the structural adjustment programmes under the Euro-Plus-Pact, the governments of the countries in crisis were seen as incapable of fending of market pressures on their own by enacting sufficiently credible reforms. In order to circumvent domestic political pressures that could hamper the reform processes, an even closer European control over the national budgets was suggested by several actors. ECB-president Trichet advocated a European finance ministry (Peel, 2011) and it should not take long before the plan to establish a suprantional body was taken up by more hawkish states. In early September, Dutch prime minister Rutte and his finance minister de Jager proposed a 'commissioner for budgetary discipline' in an article for the Financial Times (Rutte & de Jager, 2011). This commissioner's task should be to force countries that have excessive deficits to adjust their public finances, with the ultimate capacity to block budget proposals. This was necessary, they argued, because the previous SGP arrangement made it possible for some countries to violate the rules while other countries let that happen, which caused the crash. An independent commissioner could take the political dimension out of that process and prevent something like that from reoccurring. The Dutch made clear that they had coordinated that idea with their German colleagues and that they saw it as their task to convince enough countries to pass that proposal (Rijksoverheid, 2011). At a speech at the College of Europe in Bruges, Finland's finance minster Alexander Stubb seconded the idea of a 'budget tsar' as a necessity to enforce budget discipline on countries that disobeyed the rules (Stubb, 2011).

One proposal with a more French imprint was the creation of an economic government for the Euro countries, which was supposed to meet twice a year under a permanent president with the goal of coordinating economic policies while leaving some flexibility for individual circumstances ("Sarkozy , Merkel want Van Rompuy as ' Mr Euro ,'" 2011). The eventual goal of such a government, namely the coordination of national policies on the European level with a goal to bring down the debt and the deficits, however, was largely similar to the Dutch proposal and Sarkozy soon signalled that he could support the idea of a budget commissioner ("Sarkozy open to euro zone finance minister idea," 2011). Opposition to the idea was voiced by Merkel's coalition partner FPD which feared the EU finance minister could levy taxes and was weary of creating any further supranational institutions.

Another, far greater obstacle, which became clear at the European Council in October 2011 was the challenge to pass any such Treaty change given how unpopular the German-advocated austerity measures had been in the crisis countries. Italian then-still-prime minister Berlusconi stressed how difficult it would be to sell any such deal to his people and the question of whether an austerity commissioner would pass a referendum in Ireland was even more uncertain (Fleming, 2011). Still, largely at German insistence, the Council conclusions featured the idea of a limited Treaty change and welcomed the Commission's initiative to equip the budget commissioner with stronger monitoring and enforcement capacities (European Council, 2011). As another task force under the responsibility of Herman van Rompuy elaborated what exactly those Treaty changes could be, Nicolas Sarkozy, acquiesced in the German calls for more interference with national budgets and lent his support for the amendment procedure ("Sarkozy embraces German calls for EU treaty change, austerity," 2011). At the European Council in December 2011, Merkel and Sarkozy wrote a joint letter to van Rompuy in which they repeated their call for a biannual Euro-summit and the obligation of national governments to accept EU prescriptions on their budgets. Both proposals required Treaty changes and the letter urged to conduct them as fast as possible, which conflicted with Rompuy's proposal to take the quick amendment route instead. Spain, where conservative Mariano Rajoy had won the elections and Italy where Mario Monti's technocratic government had been instated in the meantime were both relatively supportive on the issue of deepening integration, but were more sceptical regarding the actual issue of Treaty change ("Text: Sarkozy and Merkel's letter to Van Rompuy," 2011). Central European countries were all more inclined towards stricter oversight and Treaty changes and Poland and the Czech Republic even vowed to opt-in in case the French got their way and an external intergovernmental agreement was passed should a Treaty amendment fail ("Ouverture des négociations : où les Etats membres se situent-ils?," 2011). The Dutch on the other hand were not outspoken in favour of Treaty changes anymore, faced with the possibility of having to subject it to a referendum at home, too. It was persistent British resistance against Treaty change that forced the other countries to eventually opt for an Intergovernmental Treaty instead of a new EU Treaty (Spiegel, Peel, Barker, & Pignal, 2011).

As in the case of the Euro Plus Pact, the conclusion of the Fiscal Compact took less than two months after France and Germany presented their idea. The idea of creating a supranational institution to monitor the observation had meanwhile vanished from the agreement again, whereas the Euro-summits were included in the Fiscal Compact. Pushes for fully automatic sanctions in case of non-implementation of Commission recommendations that, among others, Germany (Mussler & Bannas, 2011), the Netherlands (Zantingh & Monti, 2011), Finland (Toivo, 2011), and Estonia (Purju, 2012) advocated in order to take politics out of the decision making process, did not make it

into the Fiscal Compact. They were blocked by a coalition led by France (Lequiller, 2012) and Spain ("España respalda un pacto fiscal para el euro y sanciones al déficit excesivo," 2011), consisting of countries that traditionally were less likely to bring down their deficits and be the target of such automatic sanctions. They insisted that under circumstances beyond the control of the government, it might be necessary to violate the rules of the SGP. Here again it becomes clear that material interests by deficit-countries might have triggered resistance against the budget commissioner proposal, but the idea of creating a technocratic supervisor originated from economic orthodoxy. Especially Germany, which had made use of its intergovernmental power to shield itself from deficit procedures in 2003 and 2007, would certainly have lost that influence if the proposal had been passed.

If the creation of Euro summits was to a large extent a French brainchild, Germany's contribution to the Fiscal Compact was the introduction of the debt break. After that idea had not made it into the Euro-Plus Pact, it re-appeared on the agenda in Summer 2011 when the next steps of economic integration were discussed. In a letter to van Rompuy in August 2011, Merkel and Sarkozy reiterated their call for a balanced budget rule to be enshrined on the constitutional level (Merkel & Sarkozy, 2011). Sarkozy for his part had promised to follow the German example already in the beginning of the year, but his proposal for a constitutional change was consistently blocked by the Socialists in the assembly following the Senate elections in September ("French socialists bury anti-debt 'golden rule,'" 2012). It so came that the first two countries to make real efforts to codify the 'golden rule' in their constitution were the two countries most under pressure by the financial markets, Italy and Spain ("Italy plans 'golden rule' to limit budget defcits," 2011, "Spain to enshrine 'golden rule' in constitution," 2011). In both those countries the balanced budget rule was presented as a way of calming the bond markets and a necessary step to receive further loans from the ECB. In the resolutions of the European Council in October 2011, only one sentence was dedicated to improving fiscal discipline through limited Treaty changes. When also France feared to lose its AAA rating, shortly after Schäuble said there would be no 'big bazooka' (Inman, 2011), Sarkozy was left with little else but to support the German initiative to codify the balanced budget rule in a Treaty amendment ("Sarkozy embraces German calls for EU treaty change, austerity," 2011).

When the Franco-German proposal was finally discussed officially in the European Council, it quickly became clear that, notwithstanding its far-reaching implications, it would not meet much resistance. Smaller Central and Eastern European countries like Slovakia and the Baltic countries welcomed the push for closer scrutiny arguing that more budget discipline had to be enforced on

profligate countries and they themselves had taken the bitter pill, too (Vida, 2012). In addition, many of them argued that the crisis countries could not be trusted with implementing austerity without that constitutional safeguard. Among the countries hit hardest by the crisis, Greece, meanwhile also under the rule of a technocratic pro-austerity government, did not show any objections. Italy insisted on the consideration of business cycle factors, but was not really opposed, either. The only real concerns were put forward by Spain which feared that exposure to external macroeconomic factors could lead to sanctioning ("Ouverture des négociations: où les Etats membres se situent-ils?," 2011). Eventually, both those considerations were accounted for and the going definition for the deficit referred to the cyclically adjusted budgetary balance.

Here again the dogmatic appeal of the balanced-budget rule was used by those countries that already had it to convince other countries to follow their example. For lack of credible alternative proposals on how to respond to the market pressures, the Spain and Italy were the first to adopt those provisions, irrespective of the unpopularity of those measures.

That the wish for a Euro-commissioner did not materialise in the Fiscal Compact did not mean that no budget oversight was transferred to the European level. One of the issues that divided the Franco-German tandem still in late November was the oversight of the compliance with the SGP and the translation of the balanced budget rule into national law by the ECJ. The French side was worried that this could undermine the democratic foundation of the SGP, but nevertheless, the judicial review could be found in the letter to van Rompuy ahead of the December European Council (Leparmentier & Ricard, 2011). During the negotiations the French found themselves rather isolated in their resistance against the involvement of the ECJ and surrendered to the broad coalition of austerity hawks that demanded some form of automaticity. With the involvement of the ECJ, it became clear that political decisions had finally given way to enforcement of the ordo-liberal paradigm. It made the reversal of those provisions all but impossible and thus prevented a softening of the rules, like in 2003, which had been depicted as the central flaw of the SGP all along.

Even before the end of the European Semester's first year, in November 2011 two regulation proposals, thenceforth called the 'Two-Pack' saw the light of the day, too. They were further intended to harmonise and strengthen the European Semester by synchronising the national budgetary processes, assess the conformity of budgets with the recommendations given in the European Semester and gave more teeth to the EDP (De la Parra, 2013). The Two-Pack was relatively uncontroversial in the Council and after less than three months, the ECOFIN Council was able to present a political agreement which only included minor changes to the Commission proposal. That proposal went into 'trilogue' meetings with the European Parliament soon, which would talk significantly longer.

In the Franco-German talks in August, the topic of Eurobonds was discussed once again, too. Both leaders acknowledged the merits of the idea, but only in the far future. This future came sooner than expected when the pressure on Spain, Italy and France threatened to endanger the entire Eurozone in autumn 2011, the proposal of common bonds resurfaced. This time, it was the European Commission that circulated a Green Paper, carefully entitled 'Stability Bonds', the same day the Two Pack was presented to cater for to the German stability culture, in which three different approaches at shared bonds were presented. That idea had been dismissed in advance in opinion articles by both the Dutch and the German finance ministers (Rutte & de Jager, 2011; Schäuble, 2011), but was presented as a feasible and sensible approach at overcoming the ensuing sovereign debt crisis again. The argument used against the introduction of a common debt instrument was that it would fail to solve the crisis because, in Schäuble's words, 'it could make it worse in the medium term by removing a key incentive for the weaker members to forge ahead with much-needed reforms'. According to Finland's Alexander Stubb, only markets could force the much-needed discipline on those states (Stubb, 2011). Once again neo-liberal market fundamentalism – which ignored the fact that markets had reduced lending costs to Greece before the crisis and thereby contributed to its payment problems (see Hopkin, 2015; Streeck, 2012) - trumped any willingness to consider systemic solutions instead of pressure on national governments. Under the pretext of such an instrument taking away incentives for reform for deficit countries (although those were abundant elsewhere, for instance the Euro-Plus-Pact and the EDP prescriptions) richer countries justified their objections against paying for a permanent stability bond, instead of the haphazard bail-outs whenever necessary.

Those concerns were echoed in public by both Sarkozy, who was expected more supportive of the idea and Italy's Monti, even though for them, the instrument might have provided a way out of the situation they found themselves in (Phillips, 2011d). Domestic politics in France put even more pressure on Sarkozy to justify this decision in the run-up to the presidential elections with his contender François Hollande calling for more solidarity. The other crisis states Greece and Spain, as main beneficiaries of lower borrowing costs took a positive stance on the idea of a common debt instrument ("Ouverture des négociations : où les Etats membres se situent-ils?," 2011).

In terms of substance, the Fiscal Compact did not add much to the already existing

provisions, but rather made them all but irreversible. While the Dutch and the Germans hailed this as a step towards a 'stability union' where deviating from balanced budgets is almost impossible, their Finnish allies were more sober about the proposal and criticised the immense transfer of sovereignty attached to it (Phillips, 2011e). Smaller countries have in general been rather hawkish with regards to the golden rule, while weak governments in France, Spain and Italy considered its introduction as a way to gain credibility at the bond market. At the same time, the Dutch proposal for a budget commissioner did not get very far despite its German support because France and the crisis states objected against even more automatic sanctioning. Finally, the decision by the UK and the Czech Republic not to join the Treaty took almost everybody by surprise, but did not stop the willingness of all other non-eurozone countries to sign the Fiscal Compact. Again, therefore the lure of surrendering autonomy and flexibility for the sake of sound budgets showed its appeal all over the EU and no government questioned the need to install a balanced-budget provision to overcome the crisis. Thanks to French support, the German narrative had eventually made it to the core paradigm of EU economic governance and created a Eurozone that confomed neatly to ordo-liberal norms (Art, 2015).

Consolidating the gains: May – December 2012

The signature of the Fiscal Compact should turn out to be the less controversial part and ratification in national parliaments was a very heated process. Not only did the Irish call a referendum, in the Netherlands the government collapsed in the face of controversial budget cuts and the ratification of the treaty and in Greece, the social democratic PASOK emerged victorious. The most decisive swing on power, however, took place in France where Socialist François Hollande, won the presidential election after taking the Senate election half a year earlier. This spelled the end of the powerful 'Merkozy' duo and precipitated a shift in the economic position advocated by the French. Before his election Hollande had vowed to block, or at least renegotiate, the Fiscal Compact, to end the austerity imposed by the Sarkozy government and to challenge the German leadership.

After the agreement on the debt break the issue of budget coordination seemed settled and the next key themes of the first half of 2012 were the issue of unemployment and the resulting backlash against austerity policies. At the European Council in March, when the Fiscal Compact was signed, leaders agreed that tackling unemployment should be one of the main considerations of the Commission's Annual Growth Surveys (European Commission, 2012). In April, Italy and Belgium, against the backdrop of public protests against austerity, contested the handling of the

crisis on fundamental economic terms when they spoke out in favour of reviving demand to compensate for the shortfalls in consumption due to reduced private incomes and restrained public spending (Fleming, 2012a). Although Monti ruled out an expressedly 'Keynesian stimulus' and abandoning balanced budgets, this first initiative towards a more growth and employment-focused approach certainly marked a step in that direction. It also anticipated Hollande's election a little later, who had been outspoken in favour of more state involvement and a European employment strategy. Further support for such plans came from other social-democrats, such as the new Greek government and the Danish Council presidency. Even Slovakia, where the existence of a socialdemocratic government had not disturbed its allegiance to social spending cuts (Cienski, 2012) joined the new coalition that called for more growth. All of this shows the broad support for a Keynesian response to the crisis once it was clearly formulated, albeit only within the confines of the German-inspired budget rules. Facing economic pressures Hollande moderated his course towards the Fiscal Compact quickly. His stimulus plan fell short of boosting demand through a larger deficit, however, and he made clear that he remained committed to observing the national objective of reaching a balanced budget by 2017 nonetheless (Carnegy, 2012). Merkel had declared changing the negotiated Fiscal Compact a red line even before his elections. Instead, Hollande could do little more than offer a 'more pragmatic' approach together with the Chancellor which was supposed to complement the Fiscal Compact by a Growth chapter (Gammelin & Hulverscheidt, 2012).

With its strong economic performance, Germany was still a powerful player, but the momentum against austerity and pro-growth that swept Europe was certainly not in its favour. At a dinner with other heads of government, Merkel found herself rather isolated against a dynamic French president who tried to form a broad coalition composed of Southern and Eastern European to counter her pet reform. With France contesting the German economic paradigm, the collaboration between the two countries cooled down significantly and after Hollande's entry into office, the first summit in the crisis which was not preceded by a Franco-German preparatory meeting anymore (Sultan, 2012). Merkel's counter-approach was to present her own six point growth strategy which did not leave any room for softened austerity and defended the 'contractionary expansion' idea. Her austerity doctrine was still followed by Portugal and Spain, where the governments obediently implemented new budget cuts. But, for the first time she found herself on the defensive, because it was the result of her own approach to the crisis that had come under criticism, not the SGP rules that she had overturned. Merkel had little evidence to support her push for more of the same, and entirely had to rely on the promise that the austerity would pay off in the future. Growth in times of austerity should also be the *leitmotiv* of the European Council in June where a Growth Pact which

foresaw a new agenda of growth-friendly fiscal consolidation. The reforms proposed in order to achieve higher employment, namely deregulation, innovation and the issuing of loans did not deviate significantly from the ideas presented a year earlier in the Euro-Plus Pact, but with a more social focus (European Council, 2012).

A somewhat more contentious issue that Hollande put on the agenda immediately after his elections were Eurobonds, which he portrayed as the way out of the sovereign debt crisis. At the first meeting after the French elections, Germany, the Netherlands and Finland had not changed their opposition and dismissed the proposal out of hand. Hollande received support for his push from Italy, Spain, Ireland and Austria (Volkery, 2012). Italy's Mario Monti had been in favour not only of Eurobonds, but also of introducing 'Project-Bonds' as part of the stimulus programme and had supported that instrument already before his tenure. France and Italy did not propose Eurobonds jointly only in order not to provoke Germany (Peel & Spiegel, 2012). Spain's support, according to prime minister Rajoy, came in response to the market pressures that the national bonds were facing at the moment and the difficulty to keep the deficit target at those borrowing costs (Daneshkhu, 2012). Here, too the countries that would benefit from the introduction of the common debt instrument presented a clearer message as to why it should be introduced than those that defended the status quo. Despite the wide endorsement of his idea, Hollande was aware that Eurobonds could not be implemented without a Treaty change and therefore conceded that it was a project for the future. At the European Council in June, the German chancellor commented that Eurobonds would not be implemented 'as long as she lived' and that in general it would only be possible if still greater control over national governments were transferred to Brussels (Alexander, 2016). Following this veto, the proposal was not mentioned in the Council conclusions again.

This opens an interesting new perspective to the behaviour shown before. Was the talk about the moral hazard and the argument that Eurobonds would not bring stability presented earlier just used as a cover story for material interests? The neo-liberal story of national responsibility increasingly came under pressure and failed by its own standards, as neither did austerity help to reduce debt nor did growth return (Blyth, 2013b; Streeck, 2015). As the idea was discredited and presented with a concrete counter-proposal, it could be defended by nothing more than crude power by its proponents.

The election of Hollande left the European Council struggling to find a new balance at its meeting in June. There its president van Rompuy presented a vague report entitled 'Toward a genuine economic and monetary union' in which he sketched the path towards future integration. It

was an ambitious paper which outlined closer cooperation through an EU treasury and the issuance of common bonds in the medium term. The initial reaction of the European Council was rather reserved and it tasked its president with drafting a more specific proposal before the next meeting.

The turbulent summer, in which Spain and Greece needed a bailout and several crisis governments had to defend another round of austerity measures by tying them to confidence votes shifted the attention away from long-term reforms for a while. Concrete proposals did not appear on the agenda before the run-up to the European Council in October. Hollande, now confident in claiming to be the link between the pro-growth and the austerity camp in the European Council proposed that the surplus countries with sound finances raise their domestic wages in order to stimulate demand, which would have forced the rich countries to adapt to the new situation and to abandon their economic orthodoxy. He also suggested deeper integration of the Euro-countries by giving the president of the Eurogroup a stated mandate, but insisted that other steps towards integration on the social level would have to come first (Kauffmann, 2012). One day earlier Germany's Wolfgang Schäuble had repeated his call for a 'feared' currency commissioner who could veto national budgets even after they were accepted by national parliaments (Hulverscheidt, 2012).

The proposals that were featured in the Interim report to the European Council in October were more specific. In addition to closer supervision of the budgets by the Commission, it also proposed the same scrutiny for the implementation of the reforms given in the national recommendations. (Gammelin, 2012; Newsroom, 2012). This presented largely the continuation of the German and Dutch line that wanted the deficit countries to reform and adjust to neo-liberal technocratic norms. A proposal for a separate Eurozone budget which should be used to balance asymmetric shocks was welcomed as a systemic redistribution mechanism by France. This push for further Eurozone integration however raised fears over a deepening of the split between Eurozone and non-Eurozone members. Wary of transferring more money to Brussels, the surplus countries on the other hand made clear that in their view the existing structural funds and the EU budget had enough capacities and that additional transfers among the Eurozone countries could take place through those instead (Simon, 2012).

The 'Four Presidents' Report' which was eventually adopted at the European Council in December sketched a roadmap to further economic integration. While it still included the stronger coordination of national budgets before their adoption, as was outlined in the Fiscal Compact, the new proposal had dropped most of the demands that Hollande had made upon entry into office. His endorsement of a Eurozone budget, which was echoed by Spain and Italy was abandoned soon after the German side signaled its resistance (Fleming, 2012c). The compromise that was found between the Hollande's call for respect for national circumstances and Germany's drive for reforms was to

agree to have 'mutually agreed contracts for competitiveness and growth' which aimed at promoting structural reforms even in financially stable countries (Fleming, 2012b). Of course, there this would be less difficult to implement than in the countries that were in payment difficulties, but it took away the impression that the rich countries dictated reforms without putting their money where there mouths were themselves.

The chapter of SGP reform was concluded when in March 2013 the Two Pack was signed into force. Even though some of the provisions had already been agreed upon in the Fiscal Compact, the accord was stuck between the Council and the European Parliament which insisted on the inclusion of a 'redemption fund'. Predictably this was vetoed by Germany and its allies since, in their opinion it constituted a different form of Eurobonds (Fox, 2013). Hollande's election and the resulting programmatic shift could not influence the Council's opinion on that topic anymore as the mandate for the trilogue negotiations was already agreed during Sarkozy's time.

Together with the Growth Pact, the renewed Eurobonds proposal was meant to reflect the end of Franco-German unison steering of the EU. Most of Hollande's criticism was directed towards the German-led handling of the crisis and the mode of decision making that had dominated in the past two years. He sought to form a coalition with the countries that were mired in crisis in 2012. All in all, however it seemed that Hollande had to tread more carefully once he was in office and that the fully confrontational course against Germany would not bring about any progress (Kauffmann, 2012). While he presented an ambitious counterproposal for more systemic solutions which enjoyed broad support among the countries that had suffered under the austerity dictate, he was fighting an uphill battle. As the austerity idea was stripped of its intellectual appeal, after all, their promises for stability and economic recovery had not materialised, they relied on their intergovernmental clout to protect their achievements. Indeed their reforms had been entrenched so far in the existing legislation that Hollande would not have been able to overturn them unless he had received German support for his initiative. Having succeeded in shaping the EMU according to their wishes, Germany and its traditional allies could just refuse to proceed any further.

Consequently, the rift between Germany and France led to a quick standstill in the integration process. Despite all assurance that integration had to proceed, the result of the first half year of Hollande's presidency was nothing more than a rough roadmap for the next years, most of which focused on implementing agreements that were already decided. Neither was that roadmap followed, nor was any other significant institutional progress made in the years since.

Discussion

Germany and France

The most influential coalition that determined the pace and depth of the reforms of the SGP during the period of 2010-12 was formed by France and Germany. Those two countries, which used to represent two conflicting blocs, took matters like the Euro-Plus Pact and the Fiscal Compact almost entirely into their own hands. Powerful and influential as this team may have been, it is striking how close their positions were on key questions of economic policy. Both countries had saved their own economies through large deficits in 2009, but still, by the end of 2010 they had agreed that excessive deficit spending was the main problem of the Eurozone and that austerity and close supervision of national economic policy had to be the answer. While in Germany this shift could be explained with the liberal FDP replacing the Social democrats in government (Matthijs, 2016a), in France this marked a remarkable ideological shift away from the Keynesian paradigm that had prevailed at the onset the crisis (Vail, 2015; Van Esch, 2014). Even though it should later come under market pressure, in 2010, France's immediate recovery from the crisis left it in a rather strong position at that time and there was little reason to abandon the course chosen before. The explanation why France converged with Germany instead of challenging the ordo-liberal orthodoxy has to be found in Sarkozy's accepting the German discourse, which was developed after the Greek crisis in 2010 (Fabbrini, 2013). After Sarkozy had converged to the German position, it became very difficult for any other party to present an alternative story. At that time, the general goal of bringing down deficits and conducting structural reforms was not contested by France at all, which left Germany with a a powerful supporter instead of a counterweight. Within the narrow frame that was adopted, France and Germany came to occupy the two boundaries of the accepted discourse, with France pushing for a more politicised and case-specific coordination of economic policy and implementation of reforms and Germany representing automatic sanctions and universal performance standards. Effectively, this did not amount to a great difference and so the criticism the tandem drew whenever they presented a new idea to deepen integration reflected their failure to cover a broader spectrum of opinions on the topic.

As for Germany, it can be said that on the issue of economic governance it has largely defied claims about a zig-zagging course as made by Rothacher (2015) and instead has driven a steady course, barely moving on key issues (Art, 2015; Matthijs & McNamara, 2015). Even in the face of rhetorical backlashes from crisis countries and weak support for the effectiveness of either its structural adjustment programmes or its insistence on austerity, it maintained its discourse about the crisis as a national problem of excessive deficits. The German approach showed somewhat more dogmatism than the French in that it insisted all EU countries participate in the new SGP, rather

than only the Eurozone countries or those countries that were in difficulties. Starting from the case of Greece, where one small country had indeed flouted the rules of the SGP, Germany made a great effort to diagnose the problem in other countries, where this explanation could not hold (Legrain, 2014). It was Germany that criticised the previous SGP arrangement, which it had crafted itself, for being too flexible and having led to the crisis. Germany urged other countries to adopt its debt break and enact the same cutting neo-liberal reforms it itself enacted under the Agenda 2010 (Newman, 2015). Furthermore Germany was much clearer than France regarding where it drew its red lines. Following its framing of the crisis as primarily due to national failures, it was easy to justify to the domestic audience its resistance against common bonds or large structural transfers and to lay the responsibility on other countries to reform to adjust to its own standards. It thereby dodged any responsibility for its own excessive export surplus, low domestic demand or German banks' contribution to the crisis through excessive lending and kept those issues largely confined to Anglo-American economists' comments and off the political agenda (Jones, 2015). Arguably, here economic dogmatism and material interest overlap. On the one hand, the institutional reforms that were conducted also meant a significant loss of influence for Germany, on the other hand, because it got to design the new SGP, it could do it in a way that shifted the burden of adjustment onto others (Art, 2015). As soon as Hollande criticised austerity for its obvious shortcomings, Merkel turned stubborn to protect Germany against Eurobonds or larger transfers. Instead of defending her economic programme or seeking new compromises, Merkel stonewalled and further reform of the SGP stalled in the absence of a new consensus.

Rich states

Unsurprisingly the richer, northern European countries were supportive of Germany's position throughout the crisis. Like Germany, they would have shouldered the burden of any move towards a Europeanisation of the crisis (Schimmelfennig, 2015). Insisting that it was national responsibility to get their economies competitive and that they had always stuck by the rules, as many politicians emphasised, they made clear that they did not see themselves at fault. Calls on the crisis states to 'do their homework' followed naturally. Also the Dutch proposal for a budget commissioner can be interpreted as a consequence of the belief that she would enforce norms that would be the indisputable cure to the woes of the Eurozone, if they were modeled on ordo-liberal doctrine. Stressing the importance of abiding by the SGP as necessary condition to restoring stability was a figure of speech that was commonly used by richer countries to underline that the norms upon which the SGP was modeled were not to be questioned. It is in this regard ironic that the Dutch government in 2012 collapsed exactly due to the clashes between those norms and

domestic political needs. Luxembourgian prime minister Juncker's venture to propose Eurobonds as systemic solutions represented one minor exception, but the proposal was vetoed consistently by Germany and the other rich countries.

Among the rich non-Eurozone countries, it is clear that those countries that saw the sovereign debt crisis as primarily a Eurozone problem, namely Sweden and the UK were reluctant to go along with a deepening economic coordination even though they adopted domestic austerity programmes and supported a stricter SGP measures for the Eurozone. Denmark on the other hand opted in the Euro-Plus Pact, insisting that the rules imposed there could benefit the competitiveness of the country. Here again the belief in the neo-liberal economic doctrine helps best understand why a Danish right-wing government would surrender more autonomy to the EU.

Crisis states

The countries that were mired in crisis were expected to try and form a block to present their economic interests, which would have meant more flexibility and respect for national circumstances, as well as a European approach to the crisis. Yet the Greeks' initial reaction to the emerging debt crisis went in the opposite direction as they promised to solve the crisis through national austerity. Greece's hand was further weakened during the bailouts and the ensuing austerity programmes which met a broad political backlash and led to the collapse of several pro-austerity governments. Remarkably, consecutive governments were convinced that the imposition of stricter rules of the SGP would have prevented the crisis, showing that the general discourse of the crisis was still accepted.

In a similar vein, Portugal, Ireland, Spain, and Italy made clear their objections against the SGP reforms as too rigid and demanded small concessions, but neither the governments nor the populations disputed the German story of the crisis (Hopkin, 2015). Without France as a leader of this block to propose a different approach for all of the Merkozy episode, Italy was left as the country that would lead the Southern block. The Italians were the ones who advocated Eurobonds most consistently even after the Monti government was installed. They also defended their own high level of national debt by pointing out the low level of public debt, calling into question the one-size-fits-all approach of the Northern European states. Nonetheless, this did not suffice to derail the ideas of reducing national debt through lower government spending and governing by the numbers. In the course the negotiations of the Euro-Plus Pact it shortly became clear that the Southern countries with strong labour unions opposed some of the neo-liberal reforms, but they were not able to withstand the pressure. Moreover the clout of the crisis countries was significantly weakened when they came under pressure from the bond market, but they saw no way of gaining

back credibility other than cutting government spending. All the way through the crisis, the Southern European governments had to defend further tightening of budget rules against domestic resistance. This was done by stressing that there was no other reasonable way out of the crisis and that it was the first priority to get their budgets sorted out.

The criticism they voiced against France and Germany's approach to the crisis did not materialise in any substantial changes of the reform of the SGP. After the French *volte face* following the election of Hollande, those efforts found further support as systemic solutions and growth-oriented reforms reappeared on the agenda. However, even at that time, the fundamental priority of 'fiscal consolidation' was not abandoned and real government intervention in the economy was never proposed. Summing up, the crisis countries were largely aware of the fact that the reform of the SGP would harm the interests of their constituents, but because they were not immediately able to provide a convincing alternative interpretation of the crisis, they had to accept the constraints that the new SGP imposed upon them.

Central and Eastern Europe

The new EU members' large current account deficits before the crisis and the double-digit contraction of their economies in 2008 put them in a similar situation as Spain or Ireland. Still their governments prioritised low national debts and implemented deep budget cuts to overcome the crisis (Walter, 2015). What seemed like a largely national matter got European importance when those small countries advocated that approach for all other European countries, too. Austerity poster child Estonia, one of the few countries that did not violate the SGP during the crisis, frequently made references to the pains it had gone through to justify austerity programmes in other countries. Like Slovakia, the Baltic countries had gone through substantial adjustment to match the criteria for joining the Euro and they blamed the crisis countries for violating the SGP whose very idea was never questioned. The structural reforms and the balanced budget rule which were part of the reform changed fairly little in those countries, as they had modelled their political economies largely on the neo-liberal model already before the crisis (Bohle & Greskovits, 2007; Kuokštis, 2015; Schmidt & Thatcher, 2013). So even though those countries might have benefited from a looser application of the SGP or a stimulus programme, those proposals were dismissed out of hand as nothing but populism (Greeley, 2012; Grybauskaitė, 2010). Their being among the strongest advocates of more automatic sanctions, strict punishments of violations of the SGP and structural reforms, is consequently more easily explained through a commitment to neo-liberal norms than purely national interest.

Poland provided another case in point, as it too was an vocal supporter of the Euro-Plus Pact

even though it had weathered the crisis without any year of negative GDP growth and largely through external adjustment (Walter, 2015). Why should the country have opted in the agreement although it had not experienced any problem, if not for believing that those reforms would benefit it? It could have followed the path of Hungary, which was in a much worse fiscal situation, permanently under the EDP, which chose to opt out and was much more sceptical of all those reforms, too.

Theoretical implications

Contrasting the above findings with the theoretical frameworks introduced at the beginning, it becomes clear that they all can explain the formation of coalitions during the reform of the SGP to some extent. To begin with, the intergovernmental theoretical framework the preference of the richer countries for more oversight and automatic sanctioning. Surplus countries certainly had an interest in having all countries adhere to their model rather than finance stimuli or Eurobonds for the poorer countries. It also explains why the Italy and Spain had the – comparatively – strongest objections against the strengthening of the SGP, given that they were the most likely to be sanctioned (Schimmelfennig, 2015). However, in the case of France, as well as the Eastern European austerity hawks, their commitment to tight budget rules cannot be explained. They all had current account deficits and while France managed to contain the crisis through a stimulus, the small countries in Eastern Europe experienced severe economic contractions following their austerity programmes. Their support for a strengthened SGP instead of systemic solutions can hardly be explained through material interest. Fiscally stable countries like Denmark or Poland opting in the reforms and supporting stricter norms for the Eurozone is similarly difficult to justify through the immediate benefits to their own economies.

The advocacy framework can provide an explanation for those countries supporting tighter budget rules. Neo-liberal ideas have played a significant role in the construction of their political economies and they had unquestioningly observed the SGP before the crisis as part of their Euro adoption agendas. Hence their belief that austerity, ideally enforced through technocrats rather than political decisions would bring back stability to the Eurozone. In Denmark's case the right-wing government in power at that time supported austerity for ideological reasons, too. Also Germany's insistence on the EU-wide adoption of the new rules – rather than only for Eurozone countries – is in line with the framework's expectations that they held the fundamental belief that their economic paradigm would suit everybody.

Regarding the other expected advocacy coalition, however, the framework has shown little

predictive power. First, France, instead of leading a Keynesian coalition, largely supported Germany's course and only differed with regards to the policy instruments, not with regards to the eventual goals, which would in fact put it within the German advocacy coalition until 2012. Second, it was not before Hollande changed sides that the other countries with more Keynesian traditions jointly formulated their plans for stimulus programmes and common European bonds. Earlier plans by Italy had been vetoed down by the French themselves. Finally when Hollande and Monti tabled their plans for a stimulus package, they did not dare contest the general goal of 'fiscally friendly' growth openly anymore.

Their failure to do so can best be explained through the ideas-as-weapons approach. In the initial phase of the crisis, Germany and the other rich countries succeeded in providing a convincing diagnosis of the crisis. The previous, more flexible SGP arrangement was attacked and closer coordination was presented as the cure to ensure that countries adhere to the norms, which would, so the story goes, have prevented the crisis (Blyth, 2002, 2013b). This served to bring together the rich countries that had a material interest in strict spending rules and Eastern European countries that subscribed to the beliefs and already undergone those exact reforms. With France, as second most powerful actor, not contesting that story, but only differing on the implementation of closer budget supervision, it was difficult for other narratives of the crisis to find broad support. Whenever Eurobonds or stimulus programmes were proposed, Germany and its allies were quick to pour cold water on any such idea, thereby ensuring the prevalence of their narrative and the perceived inevitability of their policies. The basic idea of the crisis that was thus developed and institutionalised proved so resilient that when Hollande eventually contested it, it had become impossible to roll them back even though he found several countries to support his counternarrative. Moreover, by then the focus on national debt and deficits as reasons of the crisis had become so widely accepted that even the new narrative would not challenge it.

To some extent, this framework intersects with a realist framework because pro-austerity technocratic governments were installed in Greece and Italy, so that they were in line with ordoliberal doctrine. Nevertheless, even if one assumes that the crisis narrative was only a tool by powerful countries to serve their own interests, it is still the idea that provides the explanation of how coalitions formed in the reform of the SGP.

Conclusion

The question why and how neo-liberalism has survived and even benefited from the crisis has puzzled political economists ever since (Mirowski, 2013; Schmidt, 2016). In the course of the

sovereign debt crisis in Europe, many of those contested norms have not only been reactivated, but also institutionalised in a revamped SGP.

This study sought to shed light on the politics that brought about this lopsided outcome. In the beginning of the crisis, the identification of excessive deficits and high national debt as cause of the Greek problem was quickly generalised as an EU-wide problem by the most powerful countries. At that moment the German-led push for closer budget supervision and small deficits was not contested in principle, but only with regards to the instruments that were supposed to be used to achieve this. Hence even French calls for softening the course to fiscal adjustment did not object to the general idea of austerity policies and neo-liberal structural reform. With support from other rich countries that share the same economic interests the new set of prescriptions instantly received wide support. Eastern European countries which had already inflicted internal devaluation on themselves insisted others follow their example, despite questionable success and their being likely beneficiaries of approaches that prioritised redistribution. All this put the onus of the economic adjustment on those Southern European countries that were experiencing the crisis and had not been able to provide a convincing answer to the neo-liberal crisis narrative. On the contrary, many of the countries that were bailed out largely bought into the austerity narrative and justified it as a necessary corrective to previous spending sprees. It was not before the 2012 French elections which brought a more Keynesian government into power that the austerity doctrine was confronted with a credible counter-proposal. However, this swing came too late, since a great degree of deepened budget surveillance had already been institutionalised and some of the norms identified in the still prevalent crisis narrative still stand undisputed. When their crisis narrative was criticised, the richer countries resorted to more overt displays of power to protect their achievement.

Lately, austerity has received more public criticism, not only by the French, but also Italy and, prominently in early 2015, Greece. This political backlash, telling as it may be, has come too late to reverse any of the changes made in 2010-12. At the same time, calls for further institutional integration are repeated annually, most recently in the 5-presidents-report (J. Juncker, Tusk, Dijsselbloem, Draghi, & Schulz, 2015). German insistence on rigid rules for national austerity has however prevented any move towards more flexible arrangements or far-reaching integration reforms.

All of this speaks in favour of the hypothesis that powerful countries used economic ideas to protect their interest and that, inversely, those ideas brought together countries that subscribed to them. Ordo-liberal ideas were used to challenge the previous SGP framework and called for more technocratic policy making. Neo-liberal reform programmes aimed at weakening social protection through reduced state expenditure are now prescribed regularly with the stated goal of balancing budgets, against all public resistance. It were those two ideas that brought together countries with economic interests in shifting the burden of adjustment on the poorer countries instead of financing systemic solutions and those that had already undergone such a politically costly adjustment programme themselves.

The political success of this coalition in framing the crisis and providing a widely shared blueprint for a future institutional set-up illustrates the pervasiveness of this set of ideas. It should be kept in mind that the moral categories of Southern 'Sinners' and Northern 'Saints' that were commonly used during the Eurocrisis were purposefully crafted in its course, to support this story, as well (Fourcade et al., 2013; Matthijs, 2016b).

Great leaps in economic governance of the EU necessarily go back to ideas. The creation of the Euro and the initial SGP were both inspired by some ideas that decision makers had about how economic governance can function. In the SGP reform process, again, shared economic ideas made it possible for many countries to collaborate and to achieve significant reform in only two years.

After the introduction of the original SGP it took six years before its shortcomings led to a revision. Today again, there is a consensus that the reformed SGP is insufficient and that it is a matter of time until a response to its problems will become necessary. The question is whether a neo-liberal EU will be able to formulate it.

References

- Alexander, R. (2016). "Solange ich lebe " Merkel meißelt "Nein !" in Stein. *Die Welt*, pp. 1–2. Retrieved from http://www.welt.de/politik/deutschland/article107279499/Solange-ich-lebe-Merkel-meisselt-Nein-in-Stein.html
- Art, D. (2015). The German rescue of the eurozone: How Germany is getting the Europe it always wanted. *Political Science Quarterly*, *130*(2), 181–212. http://doi.org/10.1002/polq.12322
- Blyth, M. (2002). *Great Transformations: Economic Ideas and Institutional Change in the Twentieth Century*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Blyth, M. (2003). Structures Do Not Come with an Instruction Sheet: Interests, Ideas, and Progress in Political Science. *Perspectives on Politics*, *1*(04), 695–706. http://doi.org/10.1017/S1537592703000471
- Blyth, M. (2013a). *Austerity The History of a Dangerous Idea*. *Oxford University Press*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Blyth, M. (2013b). The Austerity Delusion Why a Bad Idea Won Over the West. *FOREIGN AFFAIRS*, 92(3), 41–56.
- Bohle, D., & Greskovits, B. (2007). Neoliberalism, embedded neoliberalism and neocorporatism:
 Towards transnational capitalism in Central-Eastern Europe. *West European Politics*, *30*(3), 443–466. http://doi.org/10.1080/01402380701276287
- Bonanni, A. (2011). Tremonti: Noi quei numerelli possiamo pure accettarli, se ci saranno anche gli altri fattori rilevanti. *La Repubblica*. Retrieved from http://ricerca.repubblica.it/repubblica/archivio/repubblica/2011/02/16/tremonti.html?ref=search
- Britain wins opt-out from EU "economic government ." (2010). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/eu-priorities-2020/news/britain-wins-opt-out-from-eu-economic-government/
- Brussels tables plans for closer EU economic union. (2010). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/eu-priorities-2020/news/brussels-tables-plans-for-closer-eu-economic-union/
- Bundeskanzlerin. (2009). "Euro ist Teil unserer Zukunft ." Retrieved from https://www.bundeskanzlerin.de/ContentArchiv/DE/Archiv17/Artikel/2010/12/2010-12-10deutsch-franzoesischer-gipfel.html
- Carnegy, H. (2012). Hollande seeks wider EU fiscal pact French presidential candidate seeks economic growth. *Financial Times*, pp. 14–16. Retrieved from https://next.ft.com/content/0f78ac10-8e09-11e1-bbae-00144feab49a
- Charlemagne. (2011a). The divisiveness pact. *The Economist*. Retrieved from http://www.economist.com/node/18330371?story_id=18330371
- Charlemagne. (2011b). What's in a name? The Economist. Retrieved from

http://www.economist.com/blogs/charlemagne/2011/03/pact_euro

- Cienski, J. (2012). Fico : austerity rules. *Financial Times*, pp. 15–16. Retrieved from https://next.ft.com/content/4328c499-9ab7-3be5-8420-d73d110038e1
- Council of the European Union. (2011). CONCLUSIONS OF THE HEADS OF STATE OR GOVERNMENT OF THE EURO AREA OF 11 MARCH 2011.
- Daneshkhu, S. (2012). Hollande renews call for eurozone bonds French president defies German objections. *Financial Times*, pp. 3–5. Retrieved from https://next.ft.com/content/323efb60-a4dd-11e1-9908-00144feabdc0
- De la Parra, S. (2013). *The Two Pack on Economic Governance: An Initial Analysis. ETUI Working Paper*. Retrieved from https://www.google.be/url? sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=6&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwiDo4bU3rPM AhUMJcAKHakIBVQQFghGMAU&url=https://www.etui.org/content/download/12195/1009 69/file/13+Background+analys+2013+03+De+la+Parra+Web+version.pdf&usg=AFQjCNE6v 4d
- Debate on sanctions deadlocked over treaty issue. (2010, September 17). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/euro-finance/news/debate-on-sanctions-deadlocked-over-treaty-issue/
- Delpha, J., & von Weizäcker, J. (2010). The Blue Bond Proposal. *Bruegel Policy Brief*. Brussels: Bruegel.
- Donnelly, S. (2005). Explaining EMU Reform. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 43(5), 947–968. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5965.2005.00603.x
- Donnelly, S. (2013). Power Politics and the Undersupply of Financial Stability in Europe. *Review of International Political Economy*, *21*(4), 980–1005. http://doi.org/10.1080/09692290.2013.801021
- Dullien, S., & Guérot, U. (2012). *The Long Shadow of Ordoliberalism: Germany's Approach to the Euro Crisis. ECFR Policy Brief.*
- Dyson, K. (2008). *The Euro at 10: Europeanization, Power, and Convergence*. (K. Dyson, Ed.). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Dyson, K. (2010). Norman's Lament: The Greek and Euro Area Crisis in Historical Perspective. *New Political Economy*, *15*(4), 597–608. http://doi.org/10.1080/13563467.2010.492853
- España respalda un pacto fiscal para el euro y sanciones al déficit excesivo. (2011, December 8). *Latino.foxnews.com*. Retrieved from http://latino.foxnews.com/latino/espanol/2011/12/08/espana-respalda-un-pacto-fiscal-para-eleuro-y-sanciones-al-deficit-excesivo/
- EU countries still divided over voting rights issue. (2010). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/future-eu/eu-countries-divided-voting-righ-news-499321

- European Commission. (2012). Press release EUROPEAN COUNCIL CONCLUSIONS Brussels, 1-2 MARCH 2012. Retrieved from http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_DOC-12-4_en.htm
- European Council. (2011). Conclusions 23 October 2011. Retrieved from http://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms_data/docs/pressdata/en/ec/125496.pdf
- European Council. (2012). European Council 28/29 June 2012 Conclusions. Retrieved from http://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms_data/docs/pressdata/en/ec/131388.pdf
- Fabbrini, S. (2013). Intergovernmentalism and Its Limits: Assessing the European Union's Answer to the Euro Crisis. *Comparative Political Studies*, 46(9), 1003–1029. http://doi.org/10.1177/0010414013489502
- Farrell, H., & Quiggin, J. (2012). Consensus, Dissensus and Economic Ideas: The Rise and Fall of Keynesianism During the Economic Crisis. *Center for the Study of Development Strategies*, 1– 52.
- Faymann, W. (2010). Austrian chancellor : "I do not believe in Treaty change ." *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/euro-finance/interview/austrian-chancellor-i-do-not-believe-in-treaty-change/
- Fitoussi, J. P., & Saraceno, F. (2013). European economic governance: The berlin-washington consensus. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, *37*(3), 479–496. http://doi.org/10.1093/cje/bet003
- Fleming, J. (2011). Treaty change comes back on EU 's agenda. *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/future-eu/news/treaty-change-comes-back-on-eu-s-agenda/
- Fleming, J. (2012a). Van Rompuy calls "Dinner for Growth" with EU leaders. *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/euro-finance/news/van-rompuy-calls-dinner-for-growth-with-eu-leaders/
- Fleming, J. (2012b, December 12). German reforms meet French solidarity in new " competitiveness contracts ." *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/future-eu/news/german-reforms-meet-french-solidarity-innew-competitiveness-contracts/
- Fleming, J. (2012c, December 14). Monti emerges as EU summit darling. *Euractiv*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/eu-priorities-2020/news/monti-emerges-as-eu-summit-darling/
- Fourcade, M., Steiner, P., Streeck, W., & Woll, C. (2013). Moral categories in the financial crisis. *Socio-Economic Review*, *11*(3), 601. http://doi.org/10.1093/ser/mwt012
- Fox, B. (2013). Deal near on eurozone economic governance laws, says Rehn. *EuObserver.com*. Retrieved from https://euobserver.com/news/119023
- France , Germany break taboo over fiscal union. (2010, December 13). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/euro-finance/news/france-germany-break-taboo-over-

fiscal-union/

- French socialists bury anti-debt "golden rule." (2012). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/elections/news/french-socialists-bury-anti-debt-golden-rule/
- Gammelin, C. (2012). Neuer EU-Pakt soll Reformen erzwingen. Südd, pp. 9–10.
- Gammelin, C., & Hulverscheidt, C. (2012). Im Kanzleramt schwindet die Angst vor Hollande. Süddeutsche Zeitung, pp. 15–17. Retrieved from http://www.sueddeutsche.de/politik/2.220/moeglicher-machtwechsel-in-frankreich-imkanzleramt-schwindet-die-angst-vor-hollande-1.1348167
- Germany, France under attack for EU austerity plan. (2011). Euractiv.com.
- Goldstein, J. (1993). *Ideas and foreign policy: beliefs, institutions, and political change*. Cornell University Press.
- Grauwe, P. De, & Ji, Y. (2013). The Legacy of Austerity in the Eurozone. *CEPS Commentary*, (October), 1–6. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jimonfin.2012.11.003
- Greeley, B. (2012). Krugmenistan vs Estonia. *Bloomberg*. Retrieved from http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2012-07-20/krugmenistan-vs-dot-estonia
- Grybauskaitė. (2010). Grybauskaitė: Europe is an overgrown teenager. *Lithuania Tribune*. Retrieved from http://www.lithuaniatribune.com/1880/grybauskaite-europe-is-an-overgrown-teenager-20101880/
- Hall, P. A. (1989). Conclusion: The Politics of Keynesian Ideas. In P. A. Hall (Ed.), *The Political Power of Economic Ideas : Keynesianism across Nations* (pp. 361–391). Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Hall, P. A. (2014). Varieties of Capitalism and the Euro Crisis. *West European Politics*, *37*(6), 1223–1243. http://doi.org/10.1080/01402382.2014.929352
- Hall, P. A., & Soskice, D. (2001). *Varieties of Capitalism. International Relations*. Oxford University Press. http://doi.org/10.1093/0199247757.001.0001
- Heinen, N. (2010). Debt brakes for Euroland Strengthening the stability pact with national debt rules. Retrieved from http://www.dbresearch.com/PROD/DBR_INTERNET_EN-PROD/PROD00000000259939.pdf
- Heipertz, M., & Verdun, A. (2010). *Ruling Europe: The Politics of the Stability and Growth Pact*. Cambridge University Press.
- Hix, S. (1999). Dimensions and alignments in european union politics: Cognitive constraints and partisan responses. *European Journal of Political Research*, 35(1), 69–106. http://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6765.00442
- Hopkin, J. (2015). The Troubled Southern Periphery: The Euro Experience in Italy and Spain. In M. Matthijs & M. Blyth (Eds.), *The Future of the Euro* (pp. 161–184). New York: Oxford University Press.

- House of Commons. (2010). *Fifth Report of Session 2010–11*. Retrieved from http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201011/cmselect/cmeuleg/428-v/428v.pdf
- House of Lords. (2011). Revised transcript of evidence taken before The Select Committee on the European Union Internal Market, Infrastructure and Employment (Sub-Committee B).
 Retrieved from http://www.parliament.uk/documents/lords-committees/eu-sub-coma/EuroCrisis/cEUA111011ev2.pdf
- Howarth, D., & Rommerskirchen, C. (2013). A Panacea for all Times? The German Stability Culture as Strategic Political Resource. *West European Politics*, *36*(4), 750–770. http://doi.org/10.1080/01402382.2013.783355
- Hulverscheidt, C. (2012). Schäuble schlägt tiefgreifende EU-Reform vor. *Süddeutsche Zeitung*, pp. 14–17. Retrieved from http://www.sueddeutsche.de/politik/2.220/europaeische-integration-schaeuble-schlaegt-tiefgreifende-eu-reform-vor-1.1497074
- Inman, P. (2011). French debt rating at risk as Germany warns there is no quick fix for crisis. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from http://www.theguardian.com/business/2011/oct/17/german-finance-minister-eurozone-crisis
- Italy plans "golden rule" to limit budget defcits. (2011, September 7). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/euro-finance/news/italy-plans-golden-rule-to-limit-budget-deficits/
- Jabko, N. (2006). *Playing the Market: A Political Strategy for Uniting Europe*, 1985–2005. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Jabko, N. (2013). The political appeal of austerity. *Comparative European Politics*, *11*(6), 705–712. http://doi.org/10.1057/cep.2013.21
- Jabko, N. (2015). The Elusive Economic Government and the Forgotten Fiscal Union. In M. Matthijs & M. Blyth (Eds.), *The Future of the Euro* (pp. 70–89). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Jones, E. (2010). Merkel's Folly. *Survival*, *52*(3), 21–38. http://doi.org/10.1080/00396338.2010.494873
- Jones, E. (2015). Getting the Story Right: How You Should Choose between Different Interpretations of the European Crisis (And Why You Should Care). *Journal of European Integration*, *37*(7), 817–832. http://doi.org/10.1080/07036337.2015.1079376
- Juncker, J., Tusk, D., Dijsselbloem, J., Draghi, M., & Schulz, M. (2015). *Completing Europe's Economic and Monetary Union - Five Presidents' Report*. Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/priorities/sites/beta-political/files/5-presidents-report_en.pdf
- Juncker, J.-C., & Tremonti, G. (2010, December 5). E-bonds would end the crisis. *Financial Times*, pp. 14–16. Retrieved from http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/540d41c2-009f-11e0-aa29-00144feab49a.html#axzz22HeJsMDB

- Kaeding, M., & Selck, T. J. (2005). Mapping Out Political Europe: Coalition Patterns in EU Decision-Making. *International Political Science Review*, 26(3), 271–290. http://doi.org/10.1177/0192512105053785
- Katzenstein, P. J. (1977). *Between Power and Plenty: Foreign Economic Policies of Advanced Industrial States*. University of Wisconsin Press. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?id=iXO2AAAIAAJ&pgis=1
- Kauffmann, S. (2012). François Hollande: "L'Europe ne peut plus être en retard." *Le Monde*, pp. 1– 7. Retrieved from http://www.lemonde.fr/politique/article/2012/10/17/francois-hollande-leurope-ne-peut-plus-etre-en-retard_1776532_823448.html
- Kažimír, P. (2010). Slovak Deputy Minister : "Control over national budgets does not compromise sovereignty ." *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/eu-priorities-2020/interview/slovak-deputy-minister-control-over-national-budgets-does-not-compromisesovereignty/
- Keohane, R. O. (1984). *The Value of Institutions and the Costs of Flexibility. After hegemony: cooperation and discord in the world political economy.*
- Krasner, S. D. (1999). Sovereignty: Organized Hypocrisy. *Princeton University Press*, 274. http://doi.org/10.1215/0961754X-8-2-422
- Krugman, P. (2010). A Money Too Far. *The New York Times*. Retrieved from http://www.nytimes.com/2010/05/07/opinion/07krugman.html
- Kuokštis, V. (2015). Baltic States in World Markets: Does Katzenstein's Framework Still Hold? Journal of Baltic Studies, 46(2), 109–126. http://doi.org/10.1080/01629778.2014.962555
- Legrain, P. (2014). European Spring Why Our Economies and Politics are in a Mess and How to Put Them Right. CB Creative Books.
- Leparmentier, A., & Ricard, P. (2011, November 30). Paris et Berlin , l ' impossible entente. *Arnaud Leparmentier et Philippe Ricard*, pp. 3–4. Retrieved from http://www.lemonde.fr/crise-financiere/article/2011/11/30/paris-et-berlin-l-impossible-entente_1611102_1581613.html? xtmc=eurobonds&xtcr=132
- Lequiller, P. (2012). *Compte rendu no 239*. Assemblée Nationale. Retrieved from http://www.assemblee-nationale.fr/13/pdf/europe/c-rendus/c0239.pdf
- Lithuania joins EU 's new economic pact barring economic populism. (2011). *Lithuania Tribune*. Retrieved from http://www.lithuaniatribune.com/5998/lithuania-joins-eus-new-economic-pact-barring-economic-populism-20115998/
- Matthijs, M. (2016a). Powerful rules governing the euro: the perverse logic of German ideas. *Journal of European Public Policy*, *23*(3), 375–391. http://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2015.1115535

Matthijs, M. (2016b). The Three Faces of German Leadership. Survival, 58(2), 135–154.

http://doi.org/10.1080/00396338.2016.1161908

- Matthijs, M., & McNamara, K. (2015). The Euro Crisis 'Theory Effect : Northern Saints , Southern Sinners , and the Demise of the Eurobond. *Journal of European Integration*, *37*(2), 229–245. http://doi.org/10.1080/07036337.2014.990137
- McNamara, K. R. (2006). Economic governance, ideas and EMU: What currency does policy consensus have today? *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 44(4), 803–821. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5965.2006.00663.x
- Merkel, A. (2011a). Inhalt Regierungserklärung von Bundeskanzlerin Angela Merkel zum Europäischen Rat am 24./25. März 2011 in Brüssel (Mitschrift). Retrieved from https://www.bundesregierung.de/ContentArchiv/DE/Archiv17/Regierungserklaerung/2011/201 1-03-24-merkel-europaeischer-rat.html
- Merkel, A. (2011b). Rede von Bundeskanzlerin Dr. Angela Merkel auf dem Frankfurt Finance Summit 2011. *Bulletin Der Bundesregierung*.
- Merkel, A., & Balkenende, J.-P. (2010). Pressestatements der Bundeskanzlerin und des niederländischen Ministerpräsidenten in Den Haag. den Haag. Retrieved from https://www.bundeskanzlerin.de/ContentArchiv/DE/Archiv17/Mitschrift/Pressekonferenzen/20 10/03/2010-03-11-merkel-balkenende.html

Merkel, A., & Fillon, F. (2010). Mitschrift der Pressebegegnung Merkel - Fillon 10 March 2010.

Merkel, A., & Papandreou, G. (2010). Mitschrift der Pressebegegnung Merkel - Papandreou 20 March 2010. Retrieved from https://www.bundeskanzlerin.de/ContentArchiv/DE/Archiv17/Mitschrift/Pressekonferenzen/20 10/03/2010-03-05-merkel-papandreou.html

Merkel, A., & Sarkozy, N. (2010). Franco-German Declaration. Statement for the France-Germany-Russia Summit. *Elysee.Fr*. Retrieved from http://www.elysee.fr/president/root/bank_objects/Franco-german_declaration.pdf

- Merkel, A., & Sarkozy, N. (2011). Joint letter from Nicolas Sarkozy, President of the Republic, and Angela Merkel, Chancellor of Germany, to Herman Van Rompuy, President of the European Council. Paris. Retrieved from http://www.ambafrance-ca.org/Euro-Crisis-Letter-to-President
- Mirowski, P. (2013). Never Let a Serious Crisis Go to Waste. London, UK: Verso Books.
- Moravcsik, A. (1993). Preferences and Power in the European Community: A Liberal Intergovernmentalist Approach. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, *31*(4), 473–524. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5965.1993.tb00477.x
- Moravcsik, A. (2013). *The Choice for Europe: Social Purpose and State Power from Messina to Maastricht*. Ithaca: Taylor & Francis.
- Mügge, D. (2011). From Pragmatism to Dogmatism: European Union Governance, Policy Paradigms and Financial Meltdown. *New Political Economy*, *16*(2), 185–206.

http://doi.org/10.1080/13563461003789753

- Mussler, W., & Bannas, G. (2011, December 12). Fiskalpakt hat nur begrenzte Auswirkungen. *Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung*, pp. 4–7. Frankfurt a.M. Retrieved from http://www.faz.net/aktuell/wirtschaft/eurokrise/einschaetzung-der-eu-kommission-fiskalpakthat-nur-begrenzte-auswirkungen-11560307.html
- Newman, A. (2015). The Relucant Leader: Germany's Euro Experience and the Long Shadow of Reunification. In M. Matthijs & M. Blyth (Eds.), *The Future of the Euro* (pp. 117–135). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Newsroom, E. (2012). Arrival and doorstep Rutte (NL) Part 1. Retrieved from http://tvnewsroom.consilium.europa.eu/event/european-council-october-2012/arrival-anddoorstep-rutte-nl8
- Noonan, M. (2011). Dáil Éireann Debate Vol. 745 No. 2 Developments in the Eurozone: Statements (Resumed). Retrieved from http://oireachtasdebates.oireachtas.ie/debates authoring/DebatesWebPack.nsf/takes/dail2011110200026?opendocument
- Ouverture des négociations : où les Etats membres se situent-ils? (2011, December 9). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.fr/section/euro-finances/news/ouverture-des-negociationsou-les-etats-membres-se-situent-ils/
- Paris , Berlin struggle for unity ahead of EU meeting. (2010). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/euro-finance/news/paris-berlin-struggle-for-unity-ahead-of-eu-meeting/
- Peel, Q. (2011). Trichet seeks single EU finance ministry "There is no crisis of the euro," says ECB president. *Financial Times*, pp. 15–16. Retrieved from https://next.ft.com/content/e0bd4e7a-8d15-11e0-815d-00144feab49a
- Peel, Q., & Spiegel, P. (2012). France to push for eurozone bonds Idea added to summit agenda as Obama urges action. *Financial Times*, pp. 4–7. Retrieved from https://next.ft.com/content/f9876df6-a366-11e1-988e-00144feabdc0
- Phillips, L. (2011a). EU ushers in "silent revolution" of national economic policies. *EuObserver.com*. Retrieved from https://euobserver.com/institutional/31993
- Phillips, L. (2011b). France and Germany propose "hair-shirt union." *EuObserver.com*. Retrieved from https://euobserver.com/economic/31748
- Phillips, L. (2011c). Van Rompuy to soothe nerves on "crisis pact" tour. *EuObserver.com*. Retrieved from https://euobserver.com/economic/31828
- Phillips, L. (2011d, November 25). Italy sides with Germany against Eurobonds. *EuObserver.com*. Retrieved from https://euobserver.com/economic/114403
- Phillips, L. (2011e, December 14). Bumpy ride for fiscal compact in Dublin, Prague, Helsinki. *EuObserver.com*. Retrieved from https://euobserver.com/economic/114632

- Purju, A. (2012). Euro Crisis , Old and New Trilemmas and Estonia's Position. *Baltic Journal of European Studies*, *2*(1), 7–25.
- Putnam, R. D. (1988). Diplomacy and Domestic Politics : The Logic of Two-Level Games. *International Organization*, *42*(3), 427–460.
- Quaglia, L. (2010). Completing the single market in financial services: the politics of competing advocacy coalitions. *Journal of European Public Policy*, *17*(7), 1007–1023. http://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2010.499239
- Reifermann, C., & Schult, C. (2011). Jagd auf den Yeti. *Der Spiegel*, pp. 24–25. Retrieved from http://www.spiegel.de/spiegel/print/d-76862418.html
- Rettman, A. (2011). Slovakia joins anti-'competitiveness pact' countries. *EuObserver.com*. Retrieved from https://euobserver.com/tickers/112342
- Rijksoverheid. (2011). Persconferentie ministerraad 9 september 2011. Retrieved April 26, 2016, from https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/mediateksten/2011/09/09/persconferentieminister-president-na-mr-9-september-2011
- Rothacher, J.-U. (2015). How Domestic Politics Shaped the French Government's Position During the Euro Crisis. *European Politics and Society*, *16*(2), 256–279. http://doi.org/10.1080/23745118.2015.1012806
- Rückendeckung für Merkel: Frankreich lehnt Euro-Anleihen ab. (2010, December 9). *Spiegel Online*. Retrieved from http://www.spiegel.de/wirtschaft/soziales/rueckendeckung-fuermerkel-frankreich-lehnt-euro-anleihen-ab-a-733798.html
- Rutte, M., & de Jager, J. K. (2011, September 8). Expulsion from the eurozone has to be the ultimate sanction. *Financial Times*, pp. 1–2. Retrieved from https://next.ft.com/content/5284d4a4-d93a-11e0-884e-00144feabdc0
- Sabatier, P. a. (1998). The advocacy coalition framework: revisions and relevance for Europe. *Journal of European Public Policy*, *5*(1), 98–130. http://doi.org/10.1080/13501768880000051
- Sallon, H. (2010, October 29). Bataille d'ego autour du traité de Lisbonne. *Le Monde*. Retrieved from http://www.lemonde.fr/europe/article/2010/10/29/bataille-d-ego-autour-du-traite-de-lisbonne_1433135_3214.html
- Saraceno, F. (2008). Fiscal discipline as a social norm: The European Stability and Growth Pact. *Journal of Public Economic Theory*, *10*(December 2008), 1143–1168.
- Sarkozy , Merkel want Van Rompuy as "Mr Euro ." (2011). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/euro-finance/news/sarkozy-merkel-want-van-rompuy-as-mr-euro/
- Sarkozy embraces German calls for EU treaty change, austerity. (2011, November 23). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/future-eu/sarkozy-embraces-german-calls-eu-treaty-change-austerity-news-509153

- Sarkozy open to euro zone finance minister idea. (2011). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/future-eu/news/sarkozy-open-to-euro-zone-finance-minister-idea/
- Saurugger, S. (2013). Constructivism and public policy approaches in the EU: from ideas to power games. *Journal of European Public Policy*, *20*(6), 888–906. http://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2013.781826
- Schäuble, W. (2011, September 5). Why austerity is only cure for the eurozone. *Financial Times*, pp. 2–5. Retrieved from https://next.ft.com/content/97b826e2-d7ab-11e0-a06b-00144feabdc0
- Schild, J. (2010). Mission Impossible? The Potential for Franco-German Leadership in the Enlarged EU. JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies, 48(5), 1367–1390. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5965.2010.02117.x
- Schimmelfennig, F. (2015). Liberal intergovernmentalism and the euro area crisis. *Journal of European Public Policy*, *22*(2), 177–195. http://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2014.994020
- Schmidt, V. A. (2008). Discursive Institutionalism: The Explanatory Power of Ideas and Discourse. Annual Review of Political Science, 11(1), 303–326. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.polisci.11.060606.135342
- Schmidt, V. A. (2016). The Roots of Neo-Liberal Resilience: Explaining Continuity and Change in Background Ideas in Europe's Political Economy,. *British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, 1–20. http://doi.org/10.1177/1369148115612792
- Schmidt, V. A., & Thatcher, M. (Eds.). (2013). Resilient Liberalism in Europe's Political Economy. Resilient Liberalism in Europe's Political Economy. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. http://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139857086
- Secret committee paving way for euro reform. (2011). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/euro-finance/news/secret-committee-paving-way-for-euro-reform/
- Segers, M., & Van Esch, F. A. W. J. (2007). Behind the Veil of Budgetary Discipline: The Political Logic of the Budgetary Rules in EMU and the SGP. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 45(5), 1089–1109. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5965.2007.00761.x
- Simon, F. (2012). Hollande : Eurozone budget will come " in addition , not in substitution " of EU budget, pp. 2014–2016.
- Spain to enshrine "golden rule" in constitution. (2011). *Euractiv.com*. Retrieved from http://www.euractiv.com/section/euro-finance/news/spain-to-enshrine-golden-rule-in-constitution/
- Spiegel, P., Peel, Q., Barker, A., & Pignal, S. (2011, December 9). Britain 's cold shoulder for Europe Cameron veto angers European Union leaders. *Financial Times*, pp. 26–28. Retrieved from https://next.ft.com/content/0da05152-2222-11e1-acdc-00144feabdc0

- Story, J., & Walter, I. (1997). *Political Economy of Financial Integration in Europe: The Battle of the Systems*. Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Streeck, W. (2012). Democratic Capitalism and European Integration. *New Left Review*, 63–71.
- Streeck, W. (2015). Why the euro divides Europe. *New Left Review*, *95*(September-October 2015), 5–26.
- Stubb, A. (2011). Speech by Minister Stubb: The European Union from Crisis to Regeneration. Retrieved April 10, 2016, from http://formin.finland.fi/public/default.aspx? contentId=234417&nodeId=15145&contentlan=2&culture=en-US
- Sultan, C. (2012). Six-Point Growth Plan : Merkel Prepares to Strike Back Against. *Der Spiegel*, pp. 1–5. Retrieved from http://www.spiegel.de/international/europe/merkel-preparing-to-strike-back-against-hollande-with-six-point-plan-a-835295.html (02.04.2016)
- Talani, L. S. (2015). Stopping the Run on the PIIGS! EMU Structural Imbalances, the Sovereign Debt Crisis and the Response of the EU. *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies*, 17(4), 353–372. http://doi.org/10.1080/19448953.2014.993262
- Text: Sarkozy and Merkel's letter to Van Rompuy. (2011, July). *Reuters.com*. Retrieved from http://www.reuters.com/article/us-eurozone-france-letter-idUSTRE7B612Y20111207
- Toivo, H. (2011). *Memorandum VNEUS2011- 00878*. Retrieved from https://www.eduskunta.fi/FI/vaski/Kirjelma/Documents/e_122+2011.pdf
- Vail, M. I. (2015). Europe's Middle Child: France's Statist Liberalism and the Conflicted Politics of the Euro. In M. Matthijs & M. Blyth (Eds.), *The Future of the Euro* (pp. 136–160). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Van Esch, F. A. W. J. (2014). Exploring the Keynesian–Ordoliberal Divide. Flexibility and Convergence in French and German Leaders' Economic Ideas During the Euro-Crisis. *Journal* of Contemporary European Studies, 22(3), 288–302. http://doi.org/10.1080/14782804.2014.937679
- Verdun, A. (2015). A historical institutionalist explanation of the EU's responses to the euro area financial crisis. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 22(2), 219–237. http://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2014.994023
- Vida, K. (Ed.). (2012). Strategic Issues for the EU10 Countries. Main Positions and Implications for EU Policy-Making. Budapest: FEPS - Foundation for European Progressive Studies. Retrieved from http://www.feps-europe.eu/assets/42fa2ca1-1d64-49fd-b833-78dfb9c06dc8/strategic issues for the eu10.pdf
- Volkery, C. (2012). Hollande Steals the Show from Merkel, pp. 4–6. Retrieved from http://www.spiegel.de/international/europe/euro-bond-discussion-dominates-european-unionsummit-a-834865.html

Walt, S. (2000). Alliances: Balancing and Bandwagoning. In R. Jervis (Ed.), International Politics:

Enduring Concepts and Contemporary Issues (pp. 110–117). NY: New York: Longman.

- Walter, S. (2015). Crisis Politics in Europe: Why Austerity Is Easier to Implement in Some Countries Than in Others. *Comparative Political Studies*, 1–33. http://doi.org/10.1177/0010414015617967
- Watt, N., & Traynor, I. (2010). Angela Merkel faces uphill battle to revise EU's rules on bailouts. *The Guardian*, pp. 1–2. Retrieved from http://www.theguardian.com/world/2010/oct/28/merkel-struggles-with-greek-bailout
- Watts, N., & Traynor, I. (2010). Angela Merkel struggles to win support for EU bailout rules at Brussels summit. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from http://www.theguardian.com/world/2010/oct/29/angela-merkel-eu-bailout-brussels
- Webber, D. (1999). Franco-German bilateralism and agricultural politics in the European Union: The neglected level. *West European Politics*, *22*(1), 45–67. http://doi.org/10.1080/01402389908425286
- Willis, A. (2010). EU budgetary proposals draw immediate rebuke. *EuObserver*. Retrieved from https://euobserver.com/economic/30071
- Willis, A. (2011). Franco-German Pact hits immediate opposition. *EuObserver.com*. Retrieved from https://euobserver.com/economic/31755
- Zantingh, P., & Monti, M. (2011, December 2). Rutte over eurozone: automatische sancties en geloofwaardig hulpfonds. *Ncr.nl*, pp. 4–7. Retrieved from http://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2011/12/02/rutte-eurozone-moet-naar-automatische-sancties-en-geloofwaardig-hulpfonds
- Zimmer, C., Schneider, G., & Dobbins, M. (2005). The contested council: Conflict dimensions of an intergovernmental EU institution. *Political Studies*, 53(2), 403–422. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9248.2005.00535.x

Οικονο μ ία Ο Γιώργος Παπανδρέου στη Σύνοδο Κορυφής « Κυρώσεις πρέπει να υπάρχουν και για το τραπεζικό σύστη μ α σε περιπτώσεις φοροδιαφυγής ». (2010, September 16). *Το Vima*, pp. 3–5. Retrieved from http://www.tovima.gr/finance/article/?aid=354834